Purdue University
Purdue e-Pubs

Open Access Theses

Theses and Dissertations

5-2018

Habitat and Interspecific Interactions Affect Mesocarnivore Occupancy in the Eastern U.S.

Michael Egan Purdue University

Follow this and additional works at: https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/open_access_theses

Recommended Citation

Egan, Michael, "Habitat and Interspecific Interactions Affect Mesocarnivore Occupancy in the Eastern U.S." (2018). *Open Access Theses*. 1380. https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/open_access_theses/1380

This document has been made available through Purdue e-Pubs, a service of the Purdue University Libraries. Please contact epubs@purdue.edu for additional information.

HABITAT AND INTERSPECIFIC INTERACTIONS AFFECT MESOCARNIVORE OCCUPANCY IN THE EASTERN U.S.

by

Michael Egan

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of Purdue University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of

Master of Science



Department of Forestry & Natural Resources West Lafayette, Indiana May 2018

THE PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL STATEMENT OF COMMITTEE APPROVAL

Dr. Patrick Zollner, Chair

Department of Forestry and Natural Resources

Dr. Todd Katzner

U.S. Geological Survey

Dr. Songlin Fei

Department of Forestry and Natural Resources

Approved by:

Dr. Robert Wagner

Head of the Graduate Program

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank the hundreds of volunteer camera trappers worked long hours in cold winter weather to collect the data that was used in this project. In addition, T. Miller, K. O'Malley, K. Heyden, S. Somershoe, C. Todd, C. Martin, T. Salo, C. Kelly, D. Cuthrell, D. Brinker, E. Soehren, S. Allen, L. Rhea, P. Ortiz and others assisted with coordination of the camera-trapping effort. I would also like to thank the many state and federal agencies that have provided financial assistance to support this work. I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Patrick Zollner, Dr. Todd Katzner, and Dr. Songlin Fei for all of their help in preparing my thesis. They have provided help with ideas, data analysis, and writing at every step of this process. I would like to thank Casey Day, who was instrumental in setting this research in motion and provided help with theoretical understanding, data analysis, and writing. I would also like to thank Daniel Bird and Nathaniel Lichti provided helpful reviews of earlier drafts of the manuscript. Julia Buchanon provided help identifying species from photos. Finally, I would like to thank my wonderful fiancé Cassie Schindler for her support in my work and life. She was there with me every step of the way and I could not have finished my thesis without her.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
ABSTRACT	ix
CHAPTER 1. DOMINANT COYOTES IMPACT GRAY FOX OCCUPANCY ACROSS 7	THE
EASTERN U.S	1
1.1 Abstract	1
1.2 Introduction	1
1.3 Methods	4
1.3.1 Study Area	4
1.3.2 Data Collection	4
1.3.3 Habitat Covariates	5
1.3.4 Coyote Abundance	7
1.3.5 Ecoregions	7
1.3.6 Modelling Overview	7
1.3.7 Testing the Impacts of Habitat Covariates	8
1.3.8 Testing the Effects of Competition with Coyote	8
1.3.9 Predictive Maps	9
1.3.10 Validation	9
1.4 Results	10
1.4.1 Coyote Detection	10
1.4.2 Coyote Habitat	10
1.4.3 Gray Fox Detection	11
1.4.4 Gray Fox Habitat	11
1.4.5 Effect of Coyotes on Gray Foxes	11
1.4.6 Model Validation	12
1.5 Discussion	12
1.6 References	15
CHAPTER 2. EFFECTS OF HABITAT ON MESOCARNIOVRE INTERACTIONS IN TH	ΗE
EASTERN U.S.A	32

2.1	Abs	tract
2.2	Intr	oduction
2.3	Met	hods
2	2.3.1	Study Area
2	2.3.2	Data Collection
2	2.3.3	Habitat Covariates
2	2.3.4	Coyote Abundance
2	2.3.5	Ecoregions
2	2.3.6	Multispecies Models
2	2.3.7	Modelling Overview
2	2.3.8	Habitat Associations of Mesocarnivores 40
2	2.3.9	Strength and Nature of Interspecific Interactions
2	2.3.10	Effect of Habitat on Interspecific Interactions
2	2.3.11	Validation
2.4	Res	ults
2	2.4.1	Habitat Associations
2	2.4.2	Interactions
2	2.4.3	Effect of Habitat on Interactions
2	2.4.4	Validation
2.5	Dise	cussion
2.6	Ref	erences

v

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Covariates of the occupancy and detection of coyote and gray fox in the Eastern United States. Habitat covariates include measures of the proportion of the landscape surrounding each site belonging to a particular cover type and the distance from each site to the nearest habitat feature. Proportion landscape variables were all assessed at five scales measuring Table 1.2 Top models for coyote single species occupancy. Models were included here if they performed within 2 Δ AIC of the top model. Included for each model is the name, Δ AIC, the Table 1.3 Top models for gray fox single species occupancy. Models were included here if they performed within 2 Δ AIC of the top model. Included for each model is the name, Δ AIC, the Table 1.4 Top models for gray fox two species occupancy. Models were included here if they performed within 2 Δ AIC of the top model. Covariates listed under covote occupancy were predictors for only coyote occupancy probability and covariates listed under gray fox occupancy were predictors for only gray fox occupancy probability in the respective model. Included for each model is the name, ΔAIC , the model weight (w), the number of parameters (k), and -2 log-Table 2.2 Top performing models for each step of analysis. A) Comparison of the top models including habitat covariates for each species. The model name indicates the species for which habitat covariates were included. B) The model name indicates species for which co-occupancy parameters were included. C) Comparison of the top models of the impact of covote abundance index on species occupancy. The model name indicates species for which coyote abundance Table 2.3 Top performing models comparing the impacts of habitat on species interactions A) Top performing models testing the impacts of urban cover on species interactions. Model names indicate which species co-occupancy included the covariate urban cover. B) Top performing models testing the impacts distance to urban on species interactions. Model names indicate which species co-occupancy included the covariate distance to urban. C) Top performing models testing the impacts of non-urban habitat on species interactions. Model names indicate which species co-occupancy included habitat covariates. Models included make up 0.95 model weight. 57 Table 2.4 Covariates of the occupancy and detection of covote and gray fox in the Eastern

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Distribution of sites throughout the study area in the Eastern U.S.A. Original sites and Figure 1.2 Standardized beta coefficients for the occupancy of coyote from single species (a) and two species (b) occupancy models. Points represent the model averaged coefficient of the occupancy probability for each covariate and error bars present the full 95% confidence interval. Figure 1.3 Standardized beta coefficients for the occupancy of gray fox from single (a) and two species (b) occupancy models. Points represent the model averaged coefficient of the occupancy Figure 1.4 The relationship of the proportion of forest cover and the coyote abundance index to the occupancy probability of gray foxes. At low coyote abundance, forest cover impacted gray Figure 1.5 Predicted occupancy maps for gray foxes based solely on habitat (left) and habitat plus the coyote abundacne index (right). Predicted occupancy is based on significant predictors Figure 1.6 Performance of habitat covariates in across sub-regions for coyotes (A) and gray foxes (B) (Omernik et al. 2017). The study area was divided into sub-regions and the performance of models was tested on the subset of sites contained within this sub-region. Models and covariates did not perform significantly different in differing sub-regions implying there was Figure 2.1 Beta coefficients for each habitat covariate on occupancy (A), species co-occupancy (B), the effect of urban cover on co-occupancy (C), and the effect of distance to urban on cooccupancy (D). Estimates are model averaged from all models containing that covariate. Bars represent 95% credible intervals around the estimate. Coefficients that are above and do not overlap 0 had a significant positive impact on occupancy. Coefficients that are below and do not

Figure 2.4 Raccoon occupancy related to agricultural edge conditional on the presence (right) or absence (left) of coyote (top), gray fox (middle), and red fox (bottom). The shaded areas

represent the 95% credible interval surrounding occupancy estimates. Raccoons were positively related to agricultural edge habitat and the presence of other mesocarnivores
Figure 2.5 Distribution of sites throughout the study area in the eastern U.S.A
Figure 2.6 Performance of habitat covariates in across sub-regions (Omernik et al. 2017). The study area was divided into sub-regions and the performance of models was tested on the subset of sites contained within this sub-region. Models and covariates did not perform significantly different in differing sub-regions implying there was not unaccounted for spatial heterogeneity.

ABSTRACT

Author: Egan, Michael, E. MS Institution: Purdue University Degree Received: May 2018 Title: Habitat and Interspecific Interactions Affect Mesocarnivore Occupancy in the Eastern U.S. Committee Chair: Patrick Zollner

Interspecific competition is important to carnivore communities because of the propensity of carnivores toward aggressive interactions. Interactions among members of the eastern U.S.A. mesocarnivore community have been impacted by the loss of top predators and urbanization. Changes to interspecific interactions and habitat result in changes in many populations of mesocarnivores. Interactions between these two factors further explain contrasting patterns among the members of the mesocarnivore community. These patterns have been studied at scales from the effects of microhabitat to landscape scale factors on mesocarnivore occupancy, however they have not been studied throughout multiple independent landscapes in the eastern U.S.A. Here, we used presence absence data from camera traps across the eastern U.S.A. to test the effects of habitat and interspecific interactions on members of the mesocarnivore community. We used single- and two-species occupancy models to estimate the contribution of urbanization and competition with coyotes to declines in gray fox populations. We found that increasing coyote abundance was negatively related to gray fox occupancy, but gray foxes did not respond to urban features. Additionally, we used multi-species occupancy models to investigate the effect of habitat on interspecific interactions among five mesocarnivores. We found that increased urbanization reduced the strength of potential intraguild predation on some mesocarnivores. Collectively, our results suggest that neither interspecific interactions nor habitat alone are capable of explaining patterns in the mesocarnivore guild. However, the inability of mesocarnivores to avoid competition with intraguild predators may contribute to declines in some species. While urbanization may have direct negative impacts, urban areas may be important because of reduced competition in more urbanized landscapes. Given the continued urbanization of the eastern U.S.A., these data provide valuable insight into how habitat may impact interspecific interactions, and, ultimately, how interspecific interactions may affect mesocarnivore occupancy.

CHAPTER 1. DOMINANT COYOTES IMPACT GRAY FOX OCCUPANCY ACROSS THE EASTERN U.S.

1.1 Abstract

Gray fox populations in the eastern United States have experienced declines that differ from trajectories of other mesocarnivore populations. One hypothesis to explain these population trends is that gray foxes have had a negative response to urbanization relative to other mesocarnivores. Additionally, gray fox declines may be the result of interspecific interactions, particularly competition with abundant coyotes. Evidence for each of these alternatives has been documented at some spatial scales, however studies have not evaluated how these two factors affect gray fox distributions across their geographic range. We evaluate factors affecting the occupancy of coyotes and gray foxes in the eastern U.S.A. to differentiate between these hypotheses. We used occupancy models across multiple landscapes to test the effects of drivers of behavior - habitat covariates and interspecies interactions on coyote and gray fox occupancy. Additionally, we estimate a coyote abundance index and estimate the effects of increased coyote abundance on gray fox occupancy. Model results indicate that both coyote and gray fox occupancy probabilities were positively related to the amount of forest present but these same models provided no evidence that gray foxes were impacted by urban cover. Additionally, model results indicate that coyote abundance - not occupancy - was negatively related to gray fox occupancy. Based on these results, we concluded that intraguild effects from coyotes contributes more to low gray fox occupancy in the eastern U.S.A. than urbanization.

1.2 Introduction

Medium sized carnivores, or mesocarnivores, benefit from the extirpation of top predators and, often, from being able to exploit urbanized landscapes (Prugh et al. 2009, Bateman and Fleming 2012). The response of mesocarnivores to the removal of large predators, has altered interactions among species in a process termed mesopredator release (Ripple et al. 2014). Increases in one species can have a cascading effect on other species across trophic levels and among communities (Ritchie and Johnson 2009, Estes et al. 2011). Coyote (*Canis latrans*) populations expanded rapidly in the latter half of the 20th century, in part as a result of mesopredator release (Nowak 1978). Coyotes are successful in urbanizing environments because there are fewer large predators (Berger and Gese 2007, Ripple et al. 2014) and, also, because they prefer habitats with moderate fragmentation (Bekoff 1977, Crimmins et al. 2012). Coyotes may further benefit from urbanization by exploiting human food resources (Fedriani et al. 2001, Morey et al. 2007). In the eastern U.S.A., coyotes may be considered the top predator since larger carnivores are not abundant or are absent (Gompper 2002, Pickett et al. 2011).

Not all mesopredators benefit from the removal of top predators. For example, gray fox (*Urocyon cinereoargenteus*) populations have declined in North America. Through the early part of the 20th century the gray fox's range expanded northward into Canada and encompassed the entire eastern U.S.A. (Fritzell and Haroldson 1982). Between 1980 and 2000, fur trappers reported decreases in gray fox captures (Peck and Heidt 1985, Cypher 1993) and lower capture rates than those for other furbearers (Conner et al. 1983). Ultimately, biologists have reported dramatically decreased gray fox abundance in several studies in the Midwest (Bluett 2006, Willingham 2008, Alessi et al. 2012).

One hypothesis for gray fox population declines is that trophic cascades as a consequence of increasing coyote populations might drive gray fox declines (Fedriani et al. 2000, Estes et al. 2011). The spatial distribution and abundance of each species in a carnivore community is dependent on interactions with other species (Rich et al. 2017). As coyote populations have grown, the opportunities for them to interact with gray foxes in the form of intraguild predation (Polis et al. 1989, Palomares and Caro 1999) and interspecific competition (Polis and Holt 1992, Caro and Stoner 2003) have likely also increased. Similar resource use by coyotes and gray foxes results in competition (Wooding 1984, Cypher 1993) and can precipitate changes in gray foxes' diet (Smith and Danner 1990). Furthermore, in some systems, coyotes are the primary predator of gray foxes (Farias et al. 2005). As a result, despite similar habitat needs, interspecific interactions may facilitate spatial avoidance of coyotes by gray foxes (Chamberlain and Leopold 2005).

Hypothetically, gray fox population declines could also be driven by changing landscape patterns. Urban sprawl impacts wildlife along the wildland-urban interface (Radeloff et al. 2005, Bar-Massada et al. 2014). Gray foxes generally prefer forest habitat and select forests for home ranges and core use areas (Temple et al. 2010, Cooper et al. 2012, Deuel et al. 2017). As these

environments come into contact with urban features, urbanization may impact the distribution of gray foxes on the landscape, with decreasing probability of gray fox occurrence nearer to urban areas (Ordenna et al. 2010). Ultimately, gray foxes may be the mesocarnivore least likely to be present in urban areas, therefore increases to the wildland-urban interface may drive gray fox declines (Bateman and Fleming 2012, Lesmeister et al. 2017).

Previous studies of gray fox populations have been conducted at small spatial scales. Studies of coyote (Person and Hirth 1991) and gray fox (Haroldson and Fritzell 1984) home range selection and home range and Leopold 2005) have related habitat use and interspecific interactions to local scale selection (sensu Johnson 1980). Landscape scale habitat studies (sensu Johnson 1980) have also been conducted both for coyotes (Atwood et al. 2004) and gray foxes (Ordenna et al. 2010) and, less frequently, to estimate spatial avoidance between coyotes and gray foxes. Within a single Southern Illinois landscape, coyote occupancy had a negative relationship with gray fox occupancy (Lesmeister et al. 2015), suggesting spatial avoidance within the landscape. It is unclear, however, whether coyotes impact the occupancy of gray foxes across multiple independent landscapes across the eastern U.S.A.

Occupancy modelling is a commonly used method to characterize the distribution or habitat associations of species like coyotes and gray foxes when detection is imperfect (Mackenzie et al. 2002). To better understand species interactions, two species occupancy models (Richmond et al. 2010) were developed to simultaneously model the occupancy of two species and relate them with additional parameters for the occupancy and detection of one species contingent on the presence and detection of another. This two-species parameterization assumes an unequal relationship between the species of interest which makes them most applicable to species who interact in a dominant/subordinate relationship. Coyote and gray fox relationships follow such a pattern with coyote dominant over gray fox numerically and behaviorally.

We used single and two species occupancy models to test two hypotheses for gray fox distribution throughout their range: urbanization lowers habitat suitability resulting in gray fox declines and competition with coyotes results in gray fox declines. We predicted that, if urbanizing landscapes are driving gray fox declines, the probability of occupancy for gray fox will be positively related to forest cover and negatively related to urban cover and the proximity to urban features. Additionally, we predicted that habitat associations of gray foxes will differ from coyotes. Regarding competition with coyotes, we predicted that, if competition with coyote

is contributing to gray fox declines, gray fox occupancy would be less likely to occupy sites where coyotes were present and there would be negative relationship between gray fox occupancy and increasing coyote abundance.

1.3 Methods

1.3.1 Study Area

We collected photographic data on wildlife species at 132 sites across the Appalachian region in the eastern U.S.A. (Figure 1.1). An additional 49 sites used for validation expanded the range of states to include Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, and Mississippi. All sites were located in the eastern temperate forest ecoregion (Omernik et al. 2017). This region can be divided into smaller ecoregions. To avoid confusion between these sub-regions and our total study area, when referring to the full extent of our study area, we will use the term eastern U.S.A. Land use in this region has changed dramatically in the preceding 50 years, with urban cover doubling and cropland declining by one fifth to one half (Brown et al. 2005).

1.3.2 Data Collection

We collected data on the presence and absence of coyotes and gray foxes across multiple landscapes in our study area. Data in this study came from The Appalachian Eagle project (http://www.appalachianeagles.org). This project's original goal was to use citizen science based camera trapping to photograph and determine the distribution of Golden Eagles throughout the Eastern U.S.A. The project additionally collected data on many other species, including many mesocarnivores. Additionally, the Appalachian Eagle project is designed to meet the challenges of large scale monitoring efforts (Lindenmayer and Likens 2010). The use of volunteer camera trapping allows researchers to remotely collect data in many landscapes across a large spatial extent (Silveira et al. 2003, Silvertown 2009). Data collected by remote camera trapping can be used to estimate both site occupancy and abundance (O'Connell et al. 2011).

Volunteer participants of the Appalachian Eagle project collected all photographic data used in this study. Volunteers placed cameras on a tree or post approximately 3' from the ground to view as large a portion of the surroundings as possible. Volunteers were asked to select sites that improved the chances of photographing Golden Eagles. Thus, they selected sites near wooded edges or in small clearings and generally at locally high elevations such as on top of a hill. Volunteers instructed to bait sites with deer carcasses collected as roadkill. At least one carcass was placed at each site in the path of the camera. They were also instructed to operate sites for 2 to 4 weeks sometime between December 1st and April 14th. Volunteers sent all images to the project lead where they were imported into a database and each image was labeled for coyote or gray fox presence. Additionally, we estimated the number of coyote visiting the site each day based on the maximum number of coyote seen in a single image during each day.

The sampling protocol presents several constraints that make the data from this study most appropriate to evaluate occupancy at large scales, but not appropriate to assess local or microhabitat features. First, site selection cannot be considered random because the choice of site was meant to attract eagles. Second, site selection was shaped by the availability or discretion of each volunteer, so sites were often at property that could be easily accessed by the volunteer such as open fields or state land in the case of volunteers who worked for state wildlife agencies. Third, baiting the sites with a strong attractant enhances the detection power of cameras for species present near the site. An attractant will draw animals in from a larger area around the site (Burton et al. 2015). These considerations bias each site toward conditions most suitable for detecting Golden Eagles. However, volunteers consistently placed sites in the optimal location within a landscape to detect species. Since the survey protocol does not affect whether species are present within the landscape, occupancy patterns throughout the eastern U.S.A. should be unaffected.

1.3.3 Habitat Covariates

We began modelling by determining the appropriate scale at which to collect land cover data. The critical range at which landscape features will affect coyote and gray fox occupancy was uncertain given that baiting may result in detections over large distances. To account for this uncertainty, we selected multiple spatial scales as buffers for each site based on the reported home range of coyote and gray fox. Buffers were based on the smallest, average, and largest reported home range size for coyote (Person and Hirth 1991, Bekoff 2003, Atwood 2004) and gray fox (Fritzell and Haroldson 1982, Harrison 1997), resulting in five scales (25 km2, 10 km2, 5 km2, 2 km2, and1 km2), because the largest gray fox and smallest coyote home range were the same. Ultimately, we estimated the scale at which each variable performed best in single species occupancy models by testing each scale and selecting the scale that best fit the data based on Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) values (Slover and Katzner 2016).

We chose predictors characterizing the composition of land cover surrounding each site (Table 1.1). We chose as factors impacting coyote and gray fox presence those habitat covariates that had the most empirical support. We assessed the land cover at each site based on data from the national land cover database (NLCD 2011) (Xian et al. 2011). We drew buffers around each site in the study using the buffer tool in ArcMap 10.2 (ESRI 2011). In each of these buffers, we estimated the percentage of each land cover type using tools in geospatial modeling environment (Beyer 2012). At each scale, we estimated the percentage of forest habitat as the proportion of deciduous, evergreen, mixed and total forest cover at each site (Kays et al. 2008, Temple et al. 2010). We also determined the proportion of urban cover (Lesmeister et al. 2016) and agricultural cover at each site (Gehring and Swihart 2003).

We also collected covariates based on the distance from each camera site to the nearest urban area (Kowalski et al. 2015), road (Riley et al. 2006), and water source (Way et al. 2001). Predicting the impacts of urbanization is complicated by two factors: uncertainty in what components of urban landscapes species respond to and determining what level of human development constitutes urbanization. To resolve this uncertainty, we used multiple covariates to classify distance to urbanization. We used map data for the landscape surrounding each site that incorporated urban boundaries defined by the U.S.A. census bureau (U.S. Census Bureau 2015), all urban cover (NLCD), and only high intensity urban cover (NLCD). The distance from each site to the nearest of each urban classifications was estimated as a separate covariate. Finally, we explored potential thresholds for the effect of urban cover and roads similar to those that have been found for other landscape features (Radford and Bennet 2004). We also estimated the distance from each site to the nearest waterbody (Litvaitis and Shaw 1980, Harrison 1987, Way et al. 2001). Data for the distance to nearest waterbody came from the national hydrography dataset (USGS 2014). The distance from every site to the nearest of these features was obtained using the near tool in ArcMap 10.2. We tested for collinearity between all variables and did not include any two variables with a correlation above 0.7 in a single model (Dormann et al. 2013).

We conducted preliminary analysis of the data to test for spatial autocorrelation among sites. We used a partial mantel test to estimate the distance at which spatial autocorrelation might exist between habitat covariates at the 132 sites sampled during the 2012 sampling year using the "ecodist" package in R (Goslee and Urban 2007). We found potential autocorrelation in the

habitat for sites closer than 5000 m. For all pairs of sites within 5000 m of each other, we randomly selected one of the sites and removed it. Therefore, we removed 11 sites, leaving 121 for analysis.

1.3.4 Coyote Abundance Index

We estimated the abundance of coyote at each site to further test the impacts of increased competition with coyote on the occupancy of other mesocarnivores. We used an n-mixture model (Royle and Nichols 2003) to estimate site level abundance based on the maximum number of coyote seen at each site during each sample day. The n-mixture model assumes that each site has a latent abundance that is estimated through repeated daily counts of the number of individuals observed at the site to estimate the detection rate at the site. Based on the record of abundances at each site and the estimated detection rate, our models generated an estimated abundance by assuming abundances were distributed according to a Poisson distribution. N-mixture models have received criticism based on the accuracy of their abundance estimates (Barker et al. 2017). However, for the purposes of our models, even a relative measure of abundance provides inference about the effect of increased coyote abundance. All models for this analysis were run in the "unmarked" (Fiske and Chandler 2011) package in R 3.3.2 (R Core Team 2017).

1.3.5 Ecoregions

We classified each site based upon ecoregion to account for unexplained spatial effects that could be attributed to variation throughout our study area. The extent of our study area included areas in which habitat effects and interspecific interactions could potentially differ. This presents a problem because mesocarnivores may respond to these factors differently in different ecoregions. These differences can potentially mask the significance of a covariate or even change the direction of the effect. We collected ecoregion data to check the study sites for stationarity (Wagner and Fortin 2005). We determined which level III Omernik ecoregion (Omernik et al. 2017) in which each site was situated and tested the performance models within each region.

1.3.6 Modelling Overview

We used a multi-stage modelling approach to fit covariates to single- and two-species occupancy models (Gompper et al. 2016). To understand the impact of habitat on the occupancy of coyotes and gray foxes, we tested habitat covariates in single-species coyote and gray fox occupancy models. This process involved three steps. In step 1, we generated the best detection

model for coyote and gray fox detection. In step 2, we estimated the scale at which each habitat covariate performed best. In step 3, we tested the effects of those appropriately-scaled habitat covariates on coyote and gray fox single-species occupancy. To understand the effect of competition with coyotes on gray foxes, we compared the performance of gray fox habitat models with models including the covariate coyote abundance index. Finally, we used all covariate sets that appeared in the top single-species models as covariate sets in two-species models (Richmond et al. 2010). At every step, we ranked models with Akaike's Information Criteria (Burnham and Anderson 2002). We standardized beta coefficients from each model based on partial standard deviations (Cade 2015) and averaged coefficients of the effect of each covariate on coyote and gray fox occupancy across all models (Arnold 2010).

1.3.7 Testing the Impacts of Habitat Covariates

To test the effects of habitat on coyote and gray fox occupancy, we fit habitat models in a three step approach. In step 1, we obtained the best estimate of detection from single-species models based upon the habitat at each site. We held occupancy constant and compared all combinations of habitat covariates in coyote and gray fox detection models. The top species-specific detection model was used in each remaining step. In step 2, we evaluated the performance of each proportional land cover covariate at all five scales by testing each proportion land cover covariate at every single scale in single-species models. We selected the most appropriate scale for each covariate based on which model performed best and retained only this scale in the next step. In step 3, we fit models of single-species coyote and gray fox occupancy based upon habitat. We fit models containing all combinations of habitat covariates for each species. We considered all models within 2 Δ AIC as the top performing habitat models. We assessed the significance of each habitat covariate based on the performance of models containing that covariate and whether the 95% confidence interval for the beta coefficient of effect for that covariate overlapped 0.

1.3.8 Testing the Effects of Competition with Coyotes

To understand the impacts of competition with coyote on gray foxes, we tested the impacts of increased coyote abundance on gray fox occupancy and tested the impacts of coyote presence on gray fox occupancy in two-species models. We included the coyote abundance index from nmixture models as a covariate in all gray fox single-species models. We compared the performance of models including coyote abundance index with those with only habitat. We determined the importance of increased coyote abundance on gray fox occupancy based on whether the 95% confidence interval for the beta coefficient of effect overlapped 0. We used covariates from top coyote and gray fox single-species models as covariates in two-species models. We compared the predicted occupancy of gray foxes conditional on the presence of coyote with the occupancy of gray foxes in the absence of coyote.

1.3.9 Predictive Maps

After generating models with data from 2012, we used significant covariates to predict the occupancy probability of coyotes and gray foxes for areas not part of our original sample. We generated predictive maps of gray fox occupancy using Raster Calculator in ArcMap. We calculated the predicted occupancy throughout the study area as a function of significant predicted covariates. We estimated the proportion of forest cover for the entire study area based on data from NLCD and estimated coyote abundance for the study area by interpolating from the sampled locations. We only attempted to predict the occupancy of gray foxes for areas where predictors were within the range of the original covariates (Figure 1.5).

1.3.10 Validation

We validated models using presence/absence data collected during 2013 to assess the ability of models to predict occupancy based on habitat. Volunteers collected data at 128 sites during this year, of which 80 had not been sampled previously. From this group of 80, 49 were used in the final analysis after removing sites that overlapped previous sites. We generated predicted occupancy probabilities based upon the covariate data collected at each additional site. We compared the predicted occupancy to the true occupancy, which was determined based on whether coyote or gray fox were observed at the site. We produced ROC curves using the r package "MASS" (Venables and Ripley 2002) and calculated AUC values determine the performance of each model. We compared the ability of these models to predict the occupancy of novel sites with the ability of models to predict the occupancy of the original sites. Of the 121 sites used to generate models, 48 were resampled during 2013 for the occupancy of gray foxes and coyotes. We produced ROC curves to compare the predicted occupancy at these sites with true occupancy, and calculated AUC values.

1.4 Results

1.4.1 Coyote Detection

We detected coyote at 111 of 121 sites (91.74%) within the study area. We obtained the best estimate of detection with the model containing the covariates: distance to urban boundary, distance to road, proportion of mixed forest cover, proportion of evergreen forest cover, and proportion of urban cover. The variables proportion of mixed forest cover, evergreen forest cover, and urban cover performed best at scales of 25 km2, 1 km2, and 10 km2 respectively. From this top model, the daily detection probability across all models was 0.3206 (SD = 0.1880).

1.4.2 Coyote Habitat

Our single-species occupancy analysis revealed only a few factors strongly influencing the occupancy of coyotes. Comparison across scale for occupancy covariates revealed that the largest reported home range for coyote, 25 km², performed best for all habitat variables. Our results suggested that proportion of total forest cover was a consistent and significant factor impacting coyote occupancy and that distance to water was partially supported as a predictor of coyote occupancy. Four single species coyote occupancy models performed within 2 Δ AIC of the top model with five covariates present in at least one top model (Table 1.2). All top performing single species occupancy models included the variables proportion of total forest cover and distance to water. Model averaging of beta parameters revealed proportion of total forest cover was the only covariate that significantly impacted coyote occupancy (Figure 1.2). Total forest cover was positively correlated with probability of coyote occupancy ($\beta = 1.72$, SE = 0.80). The relationship between habitat covariates and coyote occupancy did not differ significantly between sub-regions (Table 1.6). Additionally, the model-averaged coyote occupancy probability per 25 km² block was 0.9372 (SD = 0.1570).

Ten two species occupancy models performed within 2 Δ AIC of the top model (Table 1.4). Total forest cover and distance to water were covariates in all top models and, consistent with single-species models, model-averaging revealed that proportion of total forest cover was the only significant predictor of coyote occupancy ($\beta = 1.77$, SE= 0.87) (Figure 1.3).

1.4.3 Gray Fox Detection

We detected gray fox less frequently than coyote throughout the study area. We detected gray fox at 39 of the 121 sites (32.23 %). Top detection models included the covariates: distance to nearest road, distance to nearest urban boundary, distance to nearest waterbody, proportion of urban cover, and proportion of mixed forest cover. Proportion of mixed forest cover and urban cover performed best at the scale of 2 km² and 1km² respectively. In our preliminary analysis of gray fox occupancy, we found that proportion of total, mixed, and evergreen forest performed best at the largest possible scale, 25 km² around the camera site. Only proportion of urban cover performed best at a smaller scale, 2 km². All top performing models contained at least the two variables total forest cover and distance to water. From this top model, the daily detection probability for gray foxes was 0.1799 (SD = 0.1491).

1.4.4 Gray Fox Habitat

Total forest cover and distance to water both had a strong impact on gray fox occupancy, but urbanization had no impact on gray fox occupancy. Six single-species occupancy models performed within 2 Δ AIC of the top model (Table 1.3). Proportion of total forest cover and distance to water were present in all top models. Additionally, total forest cover and distance to water were significant predictors of gray fox occupancy (Figure 1.2). Total forest cover was positively related to gray fox occupancy (β =0.71, SE= 0.29), and distance to water (β = -0.86, SE = 0.30) was negatively related to gray fox occupancy. Proportion of urban cover and distance to urban features each appeared in only one model and neither variable was significant. The relationship between habitat covariates and gray fox occupancy probability across all models was 0.348 (SD = 0.1935). All top two-species gray fox occupancy models included the habitat covariates total forest cover and distance to water, however only total forest cover was significant (β = 0.71, SE= 0.32) (Figure 1.3).

1.4.5 Effect of Coyotes on Gray Foxes

We found evidence that increased coyote abundance negatively impacted gray foxes. We found that the best single-and two-species gray fox occupancy models all contained the covariate coyote abundance index (Table 1.3 and 1.4). Coyote abundance index was a significant predictor

and had a negative effect on gray fox occupancy in single-species models ($\beta = -0.57$, SE = 0.28) (Figure 1.3). Two species models did not provide valuable information regarding the interaction between gray fox occupancy and coyote presence. We found that all sites where gray foxes were present were also occupied by coyote. Therefore, the occupancy of gray foxes was always predicted to be higher in the presence of coyote as a result of overlap of the distribution of coyotes and gray foxes at this scale. In two species models, coyote abundance index was negatively related to gray fox occupancy conditional on the presence of coyote, however the magnitude of effect was larger than in single-species models. ($\beta = -1.75$, SE= 0.38).

1.4.6 Model Validation

We found that models performed well for predicting coyote and gray fox occupancy at novel sites. Coyote models generally performed better than gray fox models. For coyote models, the top model including total forest cover, and distance to water had an AUC score for novel sites of 0.714. For gray fox models, the top model including total forest cover, distance to water, and coyote abundance had an AUC scores for novel sites of 0.698

Overall, models performed better at trained sites than novel sites in model validation. For coyote models, the best model including total forest and distance to water had an AUC score of 0.911 for trained sites. For gray fox models, the best model including total forest, distance to water, and coyote abundance, had an AUC score of 0.824.

1.5 Discussion

Consistent with our first hypothesis, we observed a negative relationship between increased coyote abundance and gray fox occupancy. These results indicate that the distribution of gray foxes may be limited by coyote because of competition or the threat of predation. There is good evidence of coyote and gray fox interactions including competition and spatial avoidance (Fedriani et al. 2000, Chamberlin and Leopold 2005), however empirical evaluation of these patterns have not been conducted in multiple landscapes across the eastern U.S.A. and results do not always support expectations given competition between these species (Neale and Sacks 2001). Our results are consistent with local and landscape scale studies that indicate gray fox space use was negatively affected by coyotes (Cypher 1993, Chamberlain and Leopold 2005, Lesmeister et

al. 2015). These results support our hypothesis that coyotes contribute to gray fox declines, however, at this scale, coyote abundance, not presence, is significant.

Contrary to our second hypothesis, we found that the proportion of urban cover and distance to urban features had no significant effect on either coyotes or gray foxes throughout the eastern U.S.A. Coyotes and gray foxes had similar habitat preferences at this scale, with proportion forest cover being the strongest habitat predictor of occupancy. In part, the limited effect of many landscape covariates on coyote occupancy may be attributed to coyote tolerance of urban environments (Bateman and Fleming 2012) and fragmentation (Crimmins 2012), which contributes to their high occupancy throughout the study area. We predicted gray fox occupancy would be negatively related to urbanization, because gray foxes are known to avoid urban features and are among the North American mesocarnivores least frequently found living in urbanized settings (Ordenna et al. 2010). Our results suggest that, despite this, gray fox occupancy probability was not lower in more heavily urbanized landscapes. This finding may reflect the range of urbanization along the wildland-urban interface. This pattern reflects the fact that our sampling design required locating cameras at sites that would attract Golden Eagles, so we did not have sites in predominately urban areas.

Gray fox occupancy was positively related to forest cover, however, our results suggest that the proportion of forest cover in the eastern U.S.A. was high enough to support gray foxes in the absence of coyote. When considering only habitat, we found that the predicted gray fox occupancy probability was generally above 0.5 (Figure 1.5). However, by including the coyote abundance index, we found low predicted gray fox occupancy throughout the eastern U.S.A. Competition with coyote may be contributing to gray foxes declines even in areas of high forest cover. When the coyote abundance index was greater than an estimated five coyotes, gray fox occupancy probability was predicted to be 0 regardless of forest cover (Figure 1.4).

We did not find differences in the effect of covariates between the sub-regions in our study area. Given the extent of our study area, we considered that there may be variability in our data related to spatial effects not explored in our occupancy analysis (Wagner and Fortin 2005). Coyotes and gray foxes have geographic ranges greater than the extent of the eastern U.S.A. Coyotes and gray foxes may exhibit differences between eastern and western U.S.A. populations (Way 2007). While our study area comprised only the eastern U.S.A., habitat potentially may have impacted these two species differently due to heterogeneity in these relationships. However, we found that the relationship between habitat covariates and each species occupancy probability did not differ between these sub-regions. Non-stationarity has been shown to impact model performance for other species or in other systems (Gering et al. 2003, Osborne et al. 2007). In contrast to these studies, our results support the idea that in the eastern U.S.A and at the scale of our study, coyotes and gray foxes responded to habitat consistently.

Our results most strongly differ from smaller scale studies in that we never found gray foxes at sites where coyote were absent. These studies have routinely found that coyote presence impacts gray fox occupancy (Gompper et al. 2015, Lesmeister et al. 2015). Consistent with these studies, we never observed coyotes and gray foxes in the same picture, suggesting possible temporal niche partitioning exists between the two species (Schuette et al. 2013). At the scale of our study, coyote may be present across the entire eastern U.S.A. because of the loss of top predators resulting in the decreased ability of gray foxes to avoid coyotes. Additionally, overlap in the habitat needs of coyotes and gray foxes may result in the inability of gray foxes to avoid landscapes containing coyote by selecting alternative habitat (Gosselink et al. 2003). Presumably, gray foxes attempt to live in landscapes occupied by coyote but are unable to when competition or predation from coyote is most intense in landscapes where coyote are abundant. Novel approaches to modelling occupancy would be useful to examine how the strength of competition may change as a function of habitat (Rota et al. 2016).

Intense competition has not contributed to declines of other mesocarnivores in the same way it has driven declines of gray foxes. Competition between coyote and other mesocarnivores has been noted, including red foxes (Major and Sherburne 1987) and raccoons (Gehrt and Prange 2007). However, these species have not experienced the same declines that gray foxes have. While gray foxes were unaffected by urbanization, other species may use urban areas to avoid competition with coyotes. Abundant human food resources in urban settings may facilitate the coexistence of large numbers of coyotes and other mesocarnivores (Baker and Harrison 2007, Bateman and Fleming 2012). In contrast, gray foxes rely on trees for predator avoidance (Kurta 2004) and may be relatively less likely to use human resources than other mesocarnivores (Fedriani et al. 2001). Body size may also contribute to the strength of interactions between gray fox and coyote (Sepulveda 2013). Mesocarnivores that are more capable of competing with coyote directly or indirectly will not be as strongly affected. However, red foxes have not

experienced a decline on par with gray foxes, despite similar body size and predation from coyote (Palomares and Caro 1999). While coyote likely compete with other mesocarnivores, competition has only driven declines of gray foxes.

Ultimately, gray fox populations may be affected by urbanization, however, at the landscape scale, competition between coyote and gray foxes likely drives the spatial structure of gray fox distributions. While we cannot say how urbanization has affected gray foxes, it is likely that loss of forests associated with urbanization has contributed to declines in the presence of gray foxes. Future anthropogenic changes to the landscape will continue to impact gray fox distributions, particularly if they result in the loss of forests or increased coyote abundance.

1.6 References

- 2015 TIGER/Line Shapefiles (machine readable data files) / prepared by the U.S. Census Bureau, 2015
- Alessi, M.G., L.K. Campbell, and C.A. Miller. 2012. 2011-2012 Illinois Hunter Harvest Report. Job Completion Report, Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration W-112-R-21. Human Dimensions Research Program Report HR-12-01/INHS Technical Report (23). Illinois Natural History Survey, Champaign, IL.
- Arnold, T.W. 2010. Uninformative Parameters and Model Selection Using Akaike's Information Criterion. Journal of Wildlife Management. 74(6):1175-1178.
- Atwood, T.C. 2004. The influence of habitat patch attributes on coyote group size and interaction in a fragmented landscape. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 84(1):80-87.
- Baker, P.J. and S. Harris. 2007. Urban mammals: what does the future hold? An analysis of the factors affecting patterns of use of residential gardens in Great Britain. Mammal Review. 37(4):297–315.
- Bar-Massada, A., V.C. Radeloff, and S.I. Stewart. 2014. Biotic and Abiotic Effects of Human Settlement in the wildland-Urban Interface. Bioscience. 64(5):429-437.
- Barker, R.J., et al. 2017. On the reliability of N-mixture models for count data. Biometrics. 74(1):369-377.
- Bateman, P.W. and P.A. Fleming. 2012. Big city life: carnivores in urban environments. Journal of Zoology. 287(1):1-23.

Bekoff, M. 1977. Canis latrans. Mammalian Species, 79:1-9.

- Berger, K.M. and E.M. Gese. 2007. Does interference competition with wolves limit the distribution and abundance of coyotes? Journal of Animal Ecology. 76(6):1075-1085.
- Beyer, H.L. 2012. Geospatial Modelling Environment (Version 0.7.3.0). (software). URL: http://www.spatialecology.com/gme
- Bluett, R. 2006. 2005 Illinois Archery Deer Hunter Survey. Wildlife Diversity Program Note 06-4. Illinois Department of Natural Resources, Springfield, Illinois, USA.
- Brown, D.G., et al. 2005. Rural Land-Use Trends in the Conterminous United States, 1950–2000. Ecological Applications. 15(6):1851–1863.
- Burnham, K.P. and D.R. Anderson. 2002. Model Selection and Multimodel Inference: A Practical Information-Theoretical Approach (2d ed). New York, NY: Springer-Verlag
- Burton A.C., et al. 2015. Wildlife camera trapping: A review and recommendations for linking surveys to ecological processes. Journal of Applied Ecology, 52(3):675–685.
- Caro, T.M. and C. J. Stoner. 2003. The potential for interspecific competition among African carnivores. Biological Conservation. 110(1):67-75.
- Chamberlain, M.J. and B.D. Leopold. 2005. Overlap in space use among bobcats (*Lynx rufus*), coyotes (*Canis latrans*), and gray foxes (*Urocyon cinereoargenteus*). American Midland Naturalist. 153(1):171-179.
- Conner, M.C., R.F. Labisky, and P.R. Progulske. 1983. Scent-Station Indices as Measures of Population Abundance for Bobcats, Raccoons, Gray Foxes, and Opossums. Wildlife Society Bulletin. 11(2):146-152.
- Cooper, S.E., C.K. Nielsen and P.T. McDonald. 2012. Landscape factors affecting relative abundance of gray foxes *Urocyon cinereoargenteus* at large scales in Illinois, USA. Wildlife Biology. 18(4):366-373.
- Cove M.V., et al. 2012. Use of camera traps to examine the mesopredator release hypothesis in a fragmented Midwestern landscape. American Midland Naturalist. 168(2):456–465.
- Crimmins, S.M., J.W. Edwards, and J.M. Houben. 2012. *Canis latrans* (Coyote) Habitat Use and Feeding Habits in Central West Virginia. Northeastern Naturalist. 19(3):411-420.
- Cypher, B.L. 1993. Food Item Use by Three Sympatric Canids in Southern Illinois. Transactions of the Illinois State Academy of Science. 86(3):139-144.

- Deuel, N.R., et al. 2017. Habitat selection and diurnal refugia of gray foxes in southwestern Georgia, USA. PLoS ONE. 12(10):e0186402.
- Dormann, C.F., et al. 2013. Collinearity: a review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. Ecography. 36(1):27-46.
- Erb, P.L., W.J. McShea, and R.P. Guralnick. 2012. Anthropogenic Influences on Macro-Level Mammal Occupancy in the Appalachian Trail Corridor. PLoS ONE. 7(8):e42574.
- ESRI 2011. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute.
- Estes, J.A., et al. 2011. Trophic Downgrading of Planet Earth. Science. 333(6040):303-306.
- Farias V., et al. (2005). Survival and cause-specific mortality of gray foxes (Urocyon cinereoargenteus) in southern California. Journal of Zoology. 266(3):249-254.
- Fedriani, J.M., et al. 2000. Competition and intraguild predation among three sympatric carnivores. Oecologia, 125(2):258-270.
- Fedriani, J.M., T.K. Fuller, and R.M. Sauvajot. 2001. Does availability of anthropogenic food enhance densities of omnivorous mammals? An example with coyotes in southern California. Ecography. 24:325-331.
- Fiske, I. and R. Chandler. 2011. unmarked: An R Package for Fitting Hierarchical Models of Wildlife Occurrence and Abundance. Journal of Statistical Software. 43(10):1-23.
- Forman, R. T. T. and M. Godron. 1981. Patches and structural components for a landscape ecology. BioScience. 31(10):733--40.
- Fritzell, E. K. and K. J. Haroldson. 1982. *Urocyon cinereoargenteus*. Mammalian Species. 189:1-8.
- Gehring T. M. and R. K Swihart. 2003. Body size, niche breadth, and ecologically scaled responses to habitat fragmentation: mammalian predators in an agricultural landscape. Biological Conservation. 109(2):283–295.
- Gehrt, S.D. and S. Prange. 2007. Interference competition between coyotes and raccoons: a test of the mesopredator release hypothesis. Behavioral Ecology. 18(1):204-214.
- Gering, J.C. et. al. 2003. Additive Partitioning of Species Diversity across Multiple Spatial Scales: Implications for Regional Conservation of Biodiversity. Conservation Biology. 17(2):488-499.

- Geological Survey (U.S.). Geographical and Geological Survey of the Rocky Mountain Region (U.S.) Geographical Surveys West of the 100th Meridian (U.S.) Geological and Geographical Survey of the Territories (U.S.) United States. Department of the Interior. (2004). National Hydrography Dataset. [Reston, Va.]: U.S. Dept. of the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey.
- Gompper, M.E. 2002. Top Carnivores in the Suburbs? Ecological and Conservation Issues Raised by Colonization of North-Eastern North America by Coyotes. Bioscience. 52(2):185-190.
- Gompper, M.E., et al. 2016. Differential Habitat Use or Intraguild Interactions: What Structures a Carnivore Community? PLoS ONE. 11(1): e0146055.
- Goslee, S.C. and D.L. Urban. 2007. The ecodist package for dissimilarity-based analysis of ecological data. Journal of Statistical Software. 22(7):1-19.
- Gosselink, T.E., et al. 2010. Temporal habitat partitioning and spatial use of coyotes and red foxes in east-central Illinois. Journal of Wildlife Management. 67(1):90-103.
- Harrison, R.L. 1997. A Comparison of Gray Fox Ecology between Residential and Undeveloped Rural Landscapes. Journal of Wildlife Management, 61(1):112-122.
- Haroldson, K.J. and E.K. Fritzell. 1984. Home Ranges, Activity, and Habitat Use by Gray Foxes in an Oak-Hickory Forest. The Journal of Wildlife Management. 48(1):222-227.
- Hines, J. E. 2006. PRESENCE2- Software to estimate patch occupancy and related parameters. United States Geological Survey, Patuxent Wildlife Research Center. http://www.mbr-pwrc.usgs.gov/software/presence.html>.
- Holt, R.D. and G.A. Polis. 1997. A theoretical framework for intraguild predation. American Naturalist, 149(4):745-764.
- Johnson, D.H. 1980. The Comparison of Usage and Availability Measurements for Evaluating Resource Preference. Ecology. 61(1):65-71.
- Kays, R.W. M.E. Gompper, and J.C. Ray. 2008. Landscape Ecology of Eastern Coyotes Based on Large-Scale Estimates of Abundance. Ecological Applications. 18(4):1014-1027.
- Kowlaski, B., F. Watson, C. Garza, and B. Delgado. 2015. Effects of landscape covariates on the distribution and detection probabilities of mammalian carnivores. Journal of Mammalogy. 96(3):511-521.

- Kurta, A. 1995. Mammals of the Great Lakes Region. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Lesmeister, D.B., et al. 2015. Spatial and Temporal Structure of Mesocarnivore Guild in Midwestern North America. Wildlife Monographs. 191(1):1-61.
- Lindenmayer, D.B. and G.E. Likens. 2010. The science and application of ecological monitoring. Biological Conservation. 143(6):1317–1328.
- Litvaitis, J. A. and J. H. Shaw. 1980. Coyote movements, habitat use, and food habits in southwestern Oklahoma. Journal of Wildlife Management. 44:62–68.
- MacKenzie, D. I., et al. 2002. Estimating site occupancy rates when detection probabilities are less than one. Ecology. 83(8):2248–2255.
- Mackenzie, D.I., L.L. Bailey, and J.D. Nichols. 2004. Investigating species co-occurrence patterns when species are detected imperfectly. Journal of Animal Ecology 73:546-555.
- Major J.T. and J.A Sherburne. 1987. Interspecific Relationships of Coyotes, Bobcats, and Red Foxes in Western Maine. Journal of Wildlife Management. 51(3):606-616.
- Morey, P.S., E.M. Gese, and S.D. Gehrt. 2007. Spatial and Temporal Variation in the Diet of Coyotes in the Chicago Metropolitan Area. American Midland Naturalist. 158:147–161.
- Neale, J.C.C. and B.N. Sacks. 2001. Food habits and space use of gray foxes in relation to sympatric coyotes and bobcats. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 79(10):1794-1800.
- Nowak, R. 1978. Evolution and taxonomy of coyotes and related Canis. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Ordenna, M.A., et al. 2010. Effects of urbanization on carnivore species distribution and richness. Journal of Mammalogy. 91(6):1322-1331.
- O'Connell, A.F., J.D. Nichols, and K.U. Karanth. 2011. Camera Traps in Animal Ecology. Japan: Springer.
- Osborne, P.E. et al. 2007. Non-Stationarity and Local Approaches to Modelling the Distributions of Wildlife. Diversity and Distributions. 13(3):313-323.
- Palomares, F. and T.M. Caro. 1999. Interspecific Killing among Mammalian Carnivores. American Naturalist. 153(5):492-508.
- Peck, J.H. and G.A. Heidt. 1985. Model to Predict Arkansas Gray Fox Fur Harvests. Journal of Arkansas Academy of Science. 39(23):92-94.

- Person, D. K. and D. H. Hirth. 1991. Home range and habitat use of coyotes in a farm region of Vermont. Journal of Wildlife Management. 55(3):433-441.
- Pickett, S.T.A., et al. 2011. Urban ecological systems: Scientific foundations and a decade of progress. Journal of Environmental Management. 92(3):331-362.
- Prugh, L.R., et al. 2009. The Rise of the Mesopredator. Bioscience. 59(9):779-791.
- Polis, G.A., C.A. Myers, and R.D. Holt. 1989. The ecology and evolution of intraguild predation – potential competitors that eat each other. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. 20:297-330.
- Polis, G.A. and R.D. Holt. 1992. Intraguild predation The dynamics of complex trophic interactions. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 7(5):151-154.
- R Core Team. 2013. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL http://www.R-project.org/.
- Radeloff, V.C., et al. 2005. The wildland-urban interface in the United States. Ecological Applications, 15(3):799-805.
- Rich, L.N., et al. 2017. Carnivore distributions in Botswana are shaped by resource availability and intraguild species. Journal of Zoology. 303(2):90-98.
- Richmond, O.M.W., J.E. Hines, and S.R. Beissinger. 2010. Two-species occupancy models: a new parameterization applied to co-occurrence of secretive rails. Ecological Applications. 20(7):2036–2046.
- Riley, S.P.D., et al. 2006. FAST-TRACK: A southern California freeway is a physical and social barrier to gene flow in carnivores. Molecular Ecology. 15(7):1733–1741.
- Ripple, W.J., et al. 2014. Status and Ecological Effects of the World's Largest Carnivores. Science. 343(6167):151-163.
- Ritchie, E.G. and C.N. Johnson. 2009. Predator interactions, mesopredator release and biodiversity conservation. Ecology Letters. 12(9):982-998.
- Rota, C.T., et al. 2016. A multispecies occupancy model for two or more interacting species. Methods in Ecology and Evolution. Methods in Ecology and Evolution. 7(10):1164-1173.
- Royle, J.A and J.D. Nichols. 2003. Estimating abundance from repeated presence-absence data or point counts. Ecology. 84(3):770-790.

- Silveira, L., A.T.A. Jacomo, and J.A.F. Diniz-Filho. 2003. Camera trap, line transect census and track surveys: a comparative evaluation. Biological Conservation. 114(3):351–355.
- Silvertown, J. 2009. A new dawn for citizen science. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. 24(9):467-471.
- Slover, C.L. and T. Katzner. 2016. Eastern Whip-Poor-Wills (*Antrostomus vociferus*) are positively associated with low elevation forest in the central Appalachians. Wilson Journal of Ornithology. 128:846 – 856
- Temple, D. L., M. J. Chamberlain, and L. M. Conner. 2010. Spatial ecology, survival and cause specific mortality of gray foxes (*Urocyon cinereoargenteus*) in a longleaf pine ecosystem. American Midland Naturalist. 163(2):413–422.
- Venables, W. N. and B.D. Ripley. 2002. Modern Applied Statistics with S (4th ed.). New York, NY: Springer.
- Way, J.G. 2007. A Comparison of Body Mass of *Canis latrans* (Coyotes) Between Eastern and Western North America. Northeastern Naturalist. 14(1):111-124.
- Way, J.G., P.J. Auger, I.M. Ortega, & E.G. Strauss. (2001). Eastern Coyote denning behavior in an anthropogenic environment. Northeast Wildlife. 56,18–30.
- Willingham, A. 2008. Emerging Factors Associated with the Decline of a Gray Fox Population and Multi-Scale Land Cover Associations of Mesopredators in the Chicago Metropolitan Area. M.S. thesis, Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio.
- Wooding, J.B. 1984. Coyote food habits and the spatial relationship of coyotes and foxes in Mississippi and Alabama. M.S. thesis, Mississippi State University. Starkville.
- Xian, G., et al. 2011. The change of impervious surface area between 2001 and 2006 in the conterminous United States. Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing, Vol. 77(8):758-762.

Table 1.1 Covariates of the occupancy and detection of coyote and gray fox in the Eastern United States. Habitat covariates include measures of the proportion of the landscape surrounding each site belonging to a particular cover type and the distance from each site to the nearest habitat feature. Proportion landscape variables were all assessed at five scales measuring 1km2, 2km2, 5km2, 10km2, and 25km2, but are reported for the largest range. Distances are in meters.

Covariate	Mean	SD	Max.	Min.	Source
Proportion Total Forest Cover	0.751	0.263	0.996	0.00552	Kays et al. 2008, Temple et al. 2010
Proportion Deciduous Forest Cover	0.657	0.259	0.983	0	Kays et al. 2008, Temple et al. 2010
Proportion Evergreen Forest Cover	0.0467	0.067	0.400	0	Kays et al. 2008, Temple et al. 2010
Proportion Mixed Forest Cover	0.0468	0.0718	0.508	0	Kays et al. 2008, Temple et al. 2010
Proportion Agriculture Cover	0.121	0.171	0.851	0	Gehring and Swihart 2003
Proportion Urban Cover	0.0472	0.0475	0.351	0.000658	Cove et al. 2012, Lesmeister et al. 2016
Distance to nearest water source	1,328	1108	4,628	27	Litvaitis and Shaw 1980, Harrison 1987
Distance to nearest urban boundary	14,037	10,694	46,239	460	Kowalski et al. 2015
Distance to nearest high intensity	2,447	1,908	11,136	147	Kowalski et al. 2015, Ordenna et al. 2010,
urban cover					Gompper et al. 2016
Distance to nearest of any urban	1,176	913	3,994	56	Kowalski et al. 2015, Ordenna et al. 2010,
cover					Gompper et al. 2016
Distance to nearest road	3,317	2,483	12,578	56	Riley et al. 2006
Coyote Abundance Index	3.22	2.39	12.80	0.00014	Lesmeister et al. 2016

Table 1.2 Top models for coyote single species occupancy. Models were included here if they performed within 2 Δ AIC of the top model. Included for each model is the name, Δ AIC, the model weight (w), the number of parameters (k), and -2 log-likelihood (-2LL).

	<u> </u>		· /	
Coyote Single Species Occupancy Models	ΔAIC	W	k	-2LL
Total Forest, Mixed, Distance to Water	0	0.2284	13	4388.08
Total Forest, Distance to Water	0.38	0.1889	12	4390.46
Total Forest, Evergreen, Distance to Water	0.44	0.1833	13	4388.52
Total Forest, Distance to Road, Distance to Water	1.65	0.1001	13	4389.73

Table 1.3 Top models for gray fox single species occupancy. Models were included here if they performed within 2 Δ AIC of the top model. Included for each model is the name, Δ AIC, the model weight (w), the number of parameters (k), and -2 log-likelihood (-2LL).

Gray Fox Single Species Occupancy Models	ΔΑΙΟ	W	k	-2LL
Total Forest, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance Index	0	0.1415	13	1479.43
Total Forest, Urban, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance Index	1.21	0.0773	14	1478.64
Total Forest, Evergreen, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance Index	1.71	0.0602	14	1479.14
Total Forest, Mixed, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance Index	1.72	0.0599	14	1479.15
Total Forest, Distance to Water, Distance to Urban, Coyote Abundance Index	1.97	0.0528	14	1479.40
Total Forest, Distance to Water, Distance to Road, Coyote Abundance Index	2	0.0520	14	1479.43

Table 1.4 Top models for gray fox two species occupancy. Models were included here if they performed within 2 Δ AIC of the top model. Covariates listed under coyote occupancy were predictors for only coyote occupancy probability and covariates listed under gray fox occupancy were predictors for only gray fox occupancy probability in the respective model. Included for each model is the name, Δ AIC, the model weight (w), the number of parameters (k), and -2 log-likelihood (-2LL).

Coyote Occupancy	Gray Fox Occupancy	ΔΑΙϹ	W	K	-2LL
Total Forest, Mixed, Distance to Water	Total Forest, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance	0	0.1188	41	5671.94
Total Forest, Distance to Water	Total Forest, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance	0.69	0.0841	40	5674.63
Total Forest, Mixed, Distance to Water	Total Forest, Distance to Water, Distance to Road, Coyote Abundance	0.95	0.0739	42	5670.89
Total Forest, Mixed, Distance to Water	Total Forest, Urban, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance	1.2	0.0652	42	5671.14
Total Forest, Distance to Water, Distance to Road	Total Forest, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance	1.25	0.0636	41	5673.19
Total Forest, Mixed, Distance to Water	Total Forest, Mixed, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance	1.58	0.0539	42	5671.52
Total Forest, Distance to Water	Total Forest, Distance to Water, Distance to Road, Coyote Abundance	1.65	0.0521	41	5673.59
Total Forest, Distance to Water	Total Forest, Urban, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance	1.89	0.0462	41	5673.83
Total Forest, Mixed, Distance to Water	Total Forest, Distance to Water, Distance to Urban, Coyote Abundance	1.89	0.0462	42	5671.83
Total Forest, Mixed, Distance to Water	Total Forest, Evergreen, Distance to Water, Coyote Abundance	2	0.0437	42	5671.94



Figure 1.1 Distribution of sites throughout the study area in the Eastern U.S.A. Original sites (left) and validation sites (right).


Figure 1.2 Standardized beta coefficients for the occupancy of coyote from single species (a) and two species (b) occupancy models. Points represent the model averaged coefficient of the occupancy probability for each covariate and error bars present the full 95% confidence interval.



Figure 1.3 Standardized beta coefficients for the occupancy of gray fox from single (a) and two species (b) occupancy models. Points represent the model averaged coefficient of the occupancy probability for each covariate and error bars present the full 95% confidence interval.



Figure 1.4 The relationship of the proportion of forest cover and the coyote abundance index to the occupancy probability of gray foxes. At low coyote abundance, forest cover impacted gray fox occupancy, but above 5 estimated coyotes gray fox occupancy was always 0.



Figure 1.5 Predicted occupancy maps for gray foxes based solely on habitat (left) and habitat plus the coyote abundacne index (right). Predicted occupancy is based on significant predictors from top gray fox models.



Figure 1.6 Performance of habitat covariates in across sub-regions for coyotes (A) and gray foxes (B) (Omernik et al. 2017). The study area was divided into sub-regions and the performance of models was tested on the subset of sites contained within this sub-region. Coefficients are included for the entire study area and for each sub-region. Models and covariates did not perform significantly different in differing sub-regions implying there was not unaccounted for spatial heterogeneity.

CHAPTER 2. EFFECTS OF HABITAT ON MESOCARNIOVRE INTERACTIONS IN THE EASTERN U.S.A.

2.1 Abstract

The mesocarnivore community in the eastern U.S.A. has experienced changes related to human development including the loss of top predators and urbanization. These changes impact major two factors that contribute to the structure of the mesocarnivore community, habitat and interspecific competition. Many studies examine one or both of these factors, however little is known about how competition and habitat interact. Competition may decrease as habitat quality increases because of greater resources. Competition may additionally decrease in urbanized areas due to human food or habitat fragmentation. We evaluate how interspecific interactions within the mesocarnivore community change as a function of habitat. We used multi species occupancy models across multiple landscapes to test the effects of habitat on interspecific interactions in mesocarnivore occupancy. We estimate the effect that habitat has on five eastern U.S.A. mesocarnivores. We additionally evaluate the strength and nature of interspecific interactions between these species. Finally, we estimate the effect of habitat on interactions between species with strong and weak interactions. Model results indicate that habitat impacted interactions between potential intraguild predators and potential intraguild prey most strongly. In general, competition decreased with increasing habitat quality. Increasing urbanization was positively related to the co-occupancy of only potential intraguild predators and prey. Based on these results, we concluded that mesocarnivores selected habitat that reduced the strength of interspecific competition and intraguild predation. Specifically, potential intraguild prey used urban areas as refuges from competition if they were able to tolerate urbanization.

2.2 Introduction

Interspecific interactions between members the mesocarnivore community impact the spatial distributions of these species. Mesocarnivores interact aggressively through competition (Caro and Stoner 2003) and intraguild predation (Fedriani et al. 2000), both of which reduce the ability of a mesocarnivore population to persist in the presence of larger competitors (Mumma et al. 2017). Particularly, smaller or lower trophic level species respond behaviorally to intraguild

predation (Berger and Gese 2008). Top predators may regulate the coexistence of mesocarnivores through top down effects (Sergio et al. 2008). Mesocarnivores may also regulate themselves through resource partitioning (Chesson 2000). Whether due to fear, resource partitioning, or local extirpation, mesocarnivores at lower trophic levels frequently alter their space use in response to interactions with mesocarnivores at higher trophic levels. Therefore, competition and predation impact mesocarnivore communities in a way that is reflected in the space use of all mesocarnivore species.

The mesocarnivore community in the eastern U.S.A. has experienced reduced top down regulation due to the loss of large carnivores resulting in changes to the way species interact. Human persecution and urbanization have caused the extirpation of large carnivores resulting in mesopredator release (Prugh et al. 2009, Ripple et al. 2014). Mesopredator release may result in increased abundance or a larger distribution for species that benefit from reduced direct predation. However, mesopredator release may also result in a trophic cascade in which intraguild predation and competition negatively impacts smaller mesocarnivores (Cove et al. 2012). Ultimately, mesopredator release may increase the strength and importance of these intraguild predator prey relationships between mesocarnivores. Specifically, larger mesocarnivores such as coyotes (Canis latrans) and bobcats (Lynx rufus) may fill the role of top predator in this system through increased intraguild predation (Gompper 2002). While bobcats may be killed by coyote when resources are low (Wilson et al. 2010), they are most likely to occupy a similar role as a potential intraguild predator of other mesocarnivores (Litvaitis and Harrison 1989, Witczuk et al. 2015). Negative top down effects are most likely to impact smaller potential intraguild prey such as gray foxes (Urocyon cinereoargenteus) and red foxes (Vulpes vulpes). These species engage in competitive or predatory interactions with coyotes and bobcats (Fedriani et al. 2001, Newsome and Ripple 2014) and may alter their space use in response (Major and Sherburne 1987, Chamberlain and Leopold 2004). Raccoons are often less affected by intraguild predation due to generalist behavior that allows them to coexist with other mesocarnivores (Prange et al. 2003, Beasley 2007, Kowalski et al. 2015). The eastern U.S.A. may contain other carnivores including many avian predators (Terraube and Bretagnolle 2018), striped skunks (Mephitis mephitis), and Virginia opossums (Didelphis virginiana). These species are not considered because they are not part of the mammalian mesocarnivore guild or occupy a similar role as raccoons.

Human development has additionally resulted in increased urbanization of the landscape, and the status of each member of the mesocarnivore community may also be related to their response to urbanization (Ordenna et al. 2010, Bateman and Fleming 2012). Mesocarnivores may respond positively to urbanization if they are able to make use of anthropogenic resources (Fedriani et al. 2001, Newsome et al. 2012). However, urbanization poses many direct negative effects including habitat loss, habitat fragmentation, and anthropogenic mortality (Bar-Massada et al. 2014). Ultimately, the success of a mesocarnivores in urbanizing landscapes is likely to be the result of their species habitat needs. Coyotes prefer mixed forests with moderate levels of fragmentation (Person and Hirth 1991, Atwood et al. 2004) and therefore may tolerate urbanization (Gehrt et al. 2009). Bobcats generally have much larger home ranges than other mesocarnivores and tolerate urbanization less than coyotes (Riley 2003, 2006). Gray foxes may avoid urban features due to greater need for trees (Bateman and Fleming 2012, Cooper et al. 2012). Compared to gray foxes, red foxes reside in urban and suburban areas more frequently (Lombardi et al. 2017). Raccoons are habitat generalists, capable of using anthropogenic habitat and food sources (Prange et al. 2003).

Increased intraguild predation and urbanization impact the distributions of mesocarnivores, however neither can explain these spatial patterns alone (Rich et al. 2017). Many studies of these two factors compare their relative importance, however the full impact of these factors also depends on how habitat and competition interact (Elmhagen and Rushton 2010, Gompper et al.2016). Interspecific interactions may change as a function of habitat and competition with other species may drive habitat selection (Crete et al. 2001). Urbanized landscapes may reduce the strength of competition an predation even when the direct impacts of human modification are negative. When few top predators persist, human caused mortality decreases the survival of some intraguild predators (Kamler and Gipson 2004, Ordenna et al. 2010). Areas that are in contact with urban or agricultural cover may contain refuse or crops that serve as food resources (Fedriani et al. 2001). With greater influence of urbanization carnivores may compete less for food or maintain smaller home ranges resulting in decreased competition (Salek et al 2014). Differences in habitat suitability may also affect interspecific interactions. In suitable habitat, species may be able to coexist because of plentiful resources, however in resource poor habitats competition may increase. Therefore, interspecific interactions may reinforce habitat suitability patterns, or habitat and interspecific interactions may have opposite effects because of relatively habitat suitability.

To understand how mesopredator release and urbanization impact the mesocarnivore community, there is a need to consider how habitat impacts interactions among all members of the mesocarnivore community and across multiple independent landscapes in the eastern U.S.A. Many studies aim to determine the relative strength of habitat or interactions in structuring the mesocarnivore community. However, previous studies of the interactions between mesocarnivores have been limited in their ability to assess how interactions may change as a function and assess the roles of each member of the community simultaneously (Mackenzie et al. 2014, Gompper et al. 2016). Additionally, studies of mesocarnivore occupancy have evaluated the spatial structure of the mesocarnivore community within a single landscape (Kowalski et al. 2015, Lesmeister et al. 2015). However, mesocarnivores interact across multiple independent landscapes implying the potential for spatial structure across the eastern U.S.A. Here, we used a multi-species occupancy model to investigate how urbanization impacts competition and predation between five mesocarnivores across multiple landscapes in the eastern U.S.A.

We hypothesized that mesocarnivores would select habitat that reduces the strength of competition and that intraguild prey would use urban habitat to reduce the strength of intraguild predation. To test this hypothesis, we assessed the habitat associations of each species, tested the significance of interactions between each species pair, and estimated the effect of changes in habitat on interactions. We expected that, mesocarnivores would vary in their habitat associations due to differences in their responses to urbanization. We predicted that bobcat and gray fox occupancy will be negatively related to urban features while red fox and raccoon occupancy will be positively related to urban features. Based on the nature of interspecific interactions between mesocarnivores at small scales, we expect that coyotes and bobcats act as potential intraguild predators and predict that gray fox and red fox occupancy will be negatively related to the occupancy of coyotes and bobcats. Additionally, we predicted that gray fox and red fox occupancy will be negatively related to increased coyote abundance. We predicted that raccoons will not be significantly impacted by interspecific interactions. Based on these expectations related to habitat and interspecific interactions, we predicted that red foxes would be most likely to occupy the same site as potential intraguild predators when urbanization is higher and that all species will be more likely to co-occur in areas higher habitat quality.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study Area

The extent of our study area comprised most of the eastern U.S.A (Figure 2.5). All sites were located in the eastern temperate forest ecoregion (Omernik et al. 2017). This region can be divided into smaller ecoregions. To avoid confusion between these sub-regions and our total study area, when referring to the full extent of our study area, we will use the term eastern U.S.A. Despite the predominance of forest cover, land use in this portion of the eastern U.S.A. has changed dramatically in the preceding 50 years, with urban cover doubling and cropland declining between one fifth and one half (Brown et al. 2005).

2.3.2 Data Collection

We collected data on the presence and absence of coyotes, bobcats, gray foxes, red foxes, and raccoons at 170 sites across multiple landscapes in our study area (121 were sampled during 2012 and 49 were sampled during 2013. Data in this study came from The Appalachian Eagle project (http://www.appalachianeagles.org). This project's original goal was to use citizen science based camera trapping to photograph and determine the distribution of Golden Eagles throughout the eastern U.S.A. The project additionally collected data on many other species, including many mesocarnivores. The Appalachian Eagle project was designed to meet the challenges of large scale monitoring efforts (Lindenmayer and Likens 2010). The use of volunteer camera trappers allows researchers to remotely collect data in many landscapes across a large spatial extent (Silveira et al. 2003, Silvertown 2009). Data collected by remote camera trapping can be used to estimate both site occupancy and abundance (O'Connell et al. 2011).

Participants of the Appalachian Eagle project collected all photographic data used in this study. Volunteers placed cameras on a tree or post approximately 3' from the ground to view as much of the site as possible. Project leads asked volunteers to select sites that improved the chances of photographing Golden Eagles. Thus, they selected sites near wooded edges or in small clearings and generally at locally high elevations such as on top of a hill. Volunteers were instructed to bait sites with deer carcasses collected as roadkill. At least one carcass was placed at each site in the path of the camera. Volunteers were also instructed to operate sites for 2 to 4 weeks sometime between December 1st and April 15th. Volunteers sent images to the project lead where they were imported into a database and each image was labeled for the presence of

coyotes, bobcats, gray foxes, red foxes, and raccoons. Additionally, we estimated the number of coyote visiting the site each day based on the maximum number of coyote seen in a single image during each day.

The sampling protocol presents several constraints that make the data from this study more appropriate for occupancy at this large scale than one based on local or microhabitat features. First, site selection cannot be considered random because the choice of site was meant to attract eagles. Second, site selection was shaped by the availability or discretion of each volunteer, so sites were often at property that could be easily accessed by the volunteer such as open fields or state land in the case of volunteers who worked for state wildlife agencies. Third, baiting the sites with a strong attractant enhances the detection power of cameras for species present near the site. Individuals visiting the site are likely to be photographed on the carcass and an attractant will draw in animals from a larger area around the site (Burton et al. 2015). These considerations bias each site toward conditions most suitable for detecting Golden Eagles. However, the survey protocol does not affect whether species are present within the landscape, so occupancy patterns within the eastern U.S.A should be unaffected.

2.3.3 Habitat Covariates

We began collecting habitat data by considering the scale at which to collect habitat covariates. The critical range at which landscape features will affect mesocarnivore occupancy was uncertain given that baiting may result in species being detected from far away and each species may have differing home ranges. We selected multiple scales as buffers around each site to collect habitat data based on the home range of each species. Buffers were based on the lowest, average, and highest reported home range for coyotes (Person and Hirth 1991, Bekoff 2003, Atwood 2004), gray foxes (Fritzell and Haroldson 1982, Harrison 1997), red foxes (Kurki et al. 1998, Walton et al. 2017), bobcats (Litvaitis et al. 1986, Reed et al. 2017), and raccoons (Gehrt and Fritzell 1997, Prange et al. 2003). Overlap in home range size resulted in seven scales, five of which were within the range of many species (25 km2, 10 km2, 5 km2, 2 km2, and 1 km2) and two representing larger potential bobcat home ranges (100 km2 and 200 km2). Ultimately, we estimated the scale at which each variable performed best in single species occupancy models for each species by testing each scale and selecting the scale that best fit the data based on Akaike information criterion (AIC) values (Slover and Katzner 2016).

We chose covariates characterizing the composition of land cover surrounding each site (Table 2.4). Habitat covariates had the most empirical support as factors impacting each species presence. We assessed the land cover at each site based on data from the national land cover database (NLCD 2011; Xian et al. 2011). We drew buffers around each site in the study using the buffer tool in ArcMap 10.2 (ESRI 2011). In each of these buffers, we estimated the percentage of each land cover type using tools in geospatial modeling environment (Beyer 2012). At each scale, we estimated the percentage of forest habitat as the proportion of deciduous, evergreen, mixed and total forest cover at each site (Kays et al. 2008, Temple et al. 2010). We also determined the proportion of urban cover (Lesmeister et al. 2016) and agricultural cover at each site (Gehring and Swihart 2003). Finally, we determined the proportion of edge habitat surrounding each site based on the percentage of forest habitat bordering agricultural and urban cover (Kurta 2004, Beasley et al. 2007).

We also collected covariates based on the distance from each camera site to the nearest urban area (Kowalski et al. 2015), road (Riley et al. 2006), and water source (Way et al. 2001). Predicting the impacts of urbanization is complicated by two factors: uncertainty in what components of urban landscapes species respond to and determining what level of human development constitutes, from a wildlife perspective, urbanization. To resolve this uncertainty, we used multiple covariates to classify distance to urbanization. We used map data for the landscape surrounding each site that incorporated urban boundaries defined by the U.S.A. census bureau (U.S. Census Bureau 2015), all urban cover (NLCD), and only high intensity urban cover (NLCD). The distance from each site to the nearest pixel of each urban classification was estimated as a separate covariate. Finally, we classified each site as greater than (1) or less than (0) potential threshold distances similar to what have been found for other landscape features (Radford and Bennet 2004). We also estimated the distance from each site to the nearest waterbody (Litvaitis and Shaw 1980, Harrison 1987, Way et al. 2001). Data for the distance to nearest waterbody came from the national hydrography dataset (USGS 2014). The distance from every site to the nearest of these features was obtained using the near tool in ArcMap 10.2. We tested for collinearity between all variables and did not include any two variables with a correlation above 0.7 in a single model (Dormann et al. 2013).

We conducted preliminary analysis of the data to test for spatial autocorrelation among sites. We used a partial mantel test to estimate the distance at which spatial autocorrelation might

exist between habitat covariates among the 204 sites sampled during the 2012 and 2013 sampling year using the "ecodist" package in R (Goslee and Urban 2007). We tested all covariates and removed sites to avoid autocorrelation between any habitat characteristics. We found potential autocorrelation of covariates for sites closer than 5000 m. If two sites were closer than 5000 m then one site was selected randomly and removed. Therefore, we removed 34 sites, leaving 170 for analysis.

2.3.4 Coyote Abundance Index

We estimated the abundance of coyote at each site to further test the impacts of increased competition with coyote on the occupancy of other mesocarnivores. We used an n-mixture model (Royle and Nichols 2003) to estimate site level abundance based on the maximum number of coyote seen at each site during each sample day. The n-mixture model assumes that each site has a latent abundance that is estimated through repeated daily counts of the number of individuals observed at the site to estimate the detection rate at the site. Based on the record of abundances at each site and the estimated detection rate, our models generated an estimated abundance by assuming abundances were distributed according to a poisson distribution. N-mixture models have received criticism based on the accuracy of their abundance estimates (Barker et al. 2017). However, for the purposes of our models, even a relative measure of abundance provides inference about the effects of increased coyote abundance. All models for this analysis were run in the "unmarked" (Fiske and Chandler 2011) package in R 3.3.2 (R Core Team 2017).

2.3.5 Ecoregions

We classified each site based upon ecoregion to account for unexplained spatial effects that could be attributed to variation throughout our study area. The extent of our study area included areas in which habitat effects and interspecific interactions could potentially differ. This presents a problem because mesocarnivores may respond to these factors differently in different ecoregions. These differences can potentially mask the significance of a covariate or even change the direction of the effect. We collected ecoregion data to check the study sites for stationarity (Wagner and Fortin 2005). We assigned each site to a sub-region based on which level III ecoregion in which it was located (Omernik et al. 2017) We tested the performance of models based on subsets of the data included only the sites from each of these sub-regions.

2.3.6 Multispecies Models

We used multispecies occupancy models (Rota et al. 2015) to evaluate the effects of habitat and interspecific interactions on the mesocarnivore community. Multispecies models evaluate occupancy by generalizing Mackenzie et al.'s (2002) single-species model to two or more species. We assume the latent occupancy is a multivariate Bernoulli random variable and fit covariates with a multinomial logit link function. This model is parametrized to estimate the probability of occupancy for each species and the probability of co-occupancy of each species pair. We evaluate the importance of habitat for each species in these models by modelling the effect of habitat covariates on each species occupancy probability. We evaluate the importance of interactions between each species pair by comparing the performance of models with and without co-occupancy parameters. We evaluate the effect of habitat on interspecific interactions by modelling the effect of habitat covariates on each species on each species co-occupancy.

2.3.7 Modelling Overview

We fit models with a multi-stage approach making use of single- and multi-species occupancy models. To understand the habitat associations of each species we tested the effect of habitat covariates on each species occupancy. To understand the effects interspecific interactions, we tested the significance of co-occupancy terms in multi-species models. We also tested the impact of increased coyote abundance on the occupancy of each species. To understand the effects of habitat on interspecific interactions, we tested the impacts of habitat covariates on species co-occupancy. We modeled the co-occupancy of each species pair as a function of urban features and preferred habitat. In every step, we assessed the performance of models with AIC.

2.3.8 Habitat Associations of Mesocarnivores

To understand the habitat associations of each species, we tested the effect of habitat covariates on the occupancy of each individual species. To estimate the best reduced habitat model, we used single-species models to compare the performance of models containing all potential covariates for each species. We selected the best performing model as the best reduced habitat model based upon AIC values. We ran single-species models in program PRESENCE 7.1 (Hines 2006). We tested the performance of each species-specific habitat model in multi-species models. Multi-species models contained parameters for the occupancy of each species and co-

occupancy of each species pair. Multi-species habitat models were implemented by including species specific habitat covariates (habitat) or no habitat covariates (null) on each species occupancy. We ran multi-species models R (R Core Team 2017) with the package rSTAN (Carpenter et al. 2017).

2.3.9 Effects of Interspecific Interactions on Co-occupancy

To understand the nature of interspecific interactions, we tested the significance of interactions between the presence of species pairs. We compared the performance of models containing co-occupancy parameters for each species pair in rSTAN. The simplest models contained a co-occupancy parameter between two species (1 interaction parameter) and models with more species contained co-occupancy parameters for each species pair. We tested all combinations of pairwise interactions up to the full model with interactions between all species. We additionally tested the effect of increased coyote abundance on each species occupancy. We included coyote abundance index as a covariate of each species occupancy. We tested all combinations of species up to a model including coyote abundance index as predictor of each species occupancy.

2.3.10 Effect of Habitat on Interspecific Interactions

To understand how interspecific interactions changed as a function of habitat, we used multi-species models to test the impacts of habitat covariates each species pairs' co-occupancy. To test the effects of urbanization on interspecific interactions, we ran models containing proportion of urban cover and distance to urban as covariates of co-occupancy for each species pair. Each model only included urbanization covariates for at most one species pair. To test the impacts of suitable habitat on interspecific interactions, we ran models containing each species habitat associations as covariates of co-occupancy for each species pair, we ran a model containing covariates from the top habitat model for each species in the pair. We ran models for interactions between each species pair, but only included habitat for one species pair per model.

2.3.11 Validation

We validated models with data withheld from original modelling. We used 50 sites resampled during 2013 to validate models built with our original data. We generated predicted

occupancy probability estimates based upon the covariate data collected at each additional site. We compared the predicted occupancy to the true occupancy, which was determined based on whether a species was detected at a site. We produced ROC curves using the R package "pROC" (Robin et al. 2011) and calculated AUC values determine the performance of each model.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Habitat Associations

We found that habitat variability in the eastern U.S.A significantly impacted the occupancy of all mesocarnivore species. The top single-species model for each species contained between one and three covariates (Table 2.1). The top performing multi-species habitat model was the full model including habitat covariates of each species (Table 2.2). Some species habitat models represented a larger portion of model weight than others. Models that included habitat covariates for coyotes, bobcat, red foxes, or raccoon each had a combined model weight of at least 0.97. Models of gray fox habitat had a lower combined model weight of 0.77. For each model, most variables were significantly related to mesocarnivore occupancy (Figure 2.1). Only distance to water as a covariate on coyote occupancy and distance to road as a covariate on raccoon occupancy were non-significant. Coyote occupancy was directly related to the proportion of total forest cover ($\beta = 0.80$, SE = 0.28). Bobcat occupancy was inversely related to the proportion of agricultural cover (β = -0.61, SE = 0.22). Gray fox occupancy was directly related to the proportion of forest cover (β =-0.61, SE = 0.26) and inversely related to distance to water $(\beta = -0.85, SE = 0.28)$. Red foxes were less likely to occupy sites with greater forest cover ($\beta = -$ 0.47, SE = 0.18) or further from urban cover (β = -0.44, SE = 0.17). Raccoons occupancy was positively related to agricultural edge (0.83, SE = 0.19) and the proportion of urban cover (β = 0.50, SE = 0.25). Relationships between habitat covariates and covote occupancy did not differ significantly between sub-regions (Table 2.6)

2.4.2 Interactions

We found evidence of interactions between species presence for few species pairs. The top interaction model included the co-occupancy parameter between coyotes, bobcats, red foxes, and raccoons. This single model had a model weight of 0.95. Only red foxes avoided the presence of potential intraguild predators. Bobcat and red fox occupancies were negatively related (β = -

1.12, SE = 0.41). Also, bobcats (β = 1.92, SE = 0.40), gray foxes (β = 0.77, SE = 0.38), and red foxes (β = 1.34, SE = 0.42) were all more likely to occupy sites in the presence of raccoons. However, models including gray fox and raccoon co-occupancy did not have a large combined model weight (0.039). No species had a significant interaction effect with coyote presence alone, however gray foxes and red foxes avoided increased coyote abundance. The top model including coyote abundance index as a covariate of species occupancy included the effects of coyote abundance index on bobcat, gray fox, and red fox occupancy, but not raccoon occupancy.

2.4.3 Effect of Habitat on Interactions

Urbanization and habitat suitability impacted interactions between many mesocarnivore pairs. Interactions with coyotes were only impacted by urbanization for red foxes. Coyote and red fox co-occupancy was positively related to the proportion of urban cover ($\beta = 0.017$, SE = 0.0087) and negatively related to the distance to urbanization ($\beta = -0.30$, SE = 0.13). At low levels of urban cover, red foxes avoided coyote presence however high urban cover the occupancy probability of red foxes was higher in the presence of coyote (Figure 2.2). Interactions between bobcats and some smaller species were impacted by the amount of urban cover. Bobcat and red fox co-occupancy ($\beta = 0.016$, SE = 0.0082) as well as bobcat and raccoon co-occupancy ($\beta =$ 0.019, SE = 0.0082) were positively related to the proportion of urban cover. Red foxes avoided bobcats at low urban cover, but urbanization facilitated coexistence with bobcats, similar to the pattern observed with coyote (Figure 2.2). Gray fox and red fox co-occupancy was negatively related to the distance to urban features ($\beta = -0.51$, SE = 0.26). Red fox occupancy was lower in the presence of gray foxes, however as the distance to urban decreased then the strength of competition decreased and the likelihood of these species co-occurring increased. Red fox and raccoon co-occupancy was positively related to the proportion of urban cover ($\beta = 0.017$, SE = 0.0092).

Non-urban habitat preferences also impacted the co-occupancy of many mesocarnivores. Coyote and bobcat co-occupancy was positively related to total forest cover ($\beta = 0.53$, SE = 0.18) and distance to water (-0.64, SE = 0.25). Total forest cover was also directly related to coyote and raccoon co-occupancy ($\beta = 0.46$, SE = 0.21). Bobcat and raccoon co-occupancy was inversely related to the proportion of agricultural cover ($\beta = -0.52$, SE = 0.30). Suitable gray fox habitat decreased the strength of competition between gray foxes and higher trophic level species. Gray

fox and coyote co-occupancy was positively related to forest cover (0.55, SE = 0.22) and negatively related to distance to water (β = -0.85, SE = 0.28). Gray fox and bobcat co-occupancy was negatively related to distance to water (-0.95, SE = 0.36). Total forest cover also positively impacted the co-occupancy of gray foxes and raccoons (β = 1.15, SE = 0.37). No habitat characteristics significantly impacted the co-occupancy of red foxes and other species other than urbanization measures. Raccoons coexisted with other mesocarnivores more often when habitat was more suitable. Agricultural edge habitat was positively related to the co-occupancy of raccoons and coyotes (β = 0.67, SE = 0.19), raccoons and gray foxes (β = 0.67, SE = 0.23), and raccoons and red foxes (β = 0.82, SE = 0.21).

2.4.4 Validation

We found that models performed well for predicting mesocarnivore occupancy for validation sites. Model validation performed best for red foxes and worst for raccoons. Area under the curve (AUC) scores for each species were: 0.7942 for coyotes, 0.8033 for bobcats, 0.6881 for gray foxes, 0.8697 for red foxes, and 0.6711 for raccoons.

2.5 Discussion

We found support for our hypotheses that of mesocarnivore select habitat that reduced the strength of competition. Increased habitat quality was positively associated with co-occupancy of all species pairs in this study, suggesting that competition may decrease in better quality habitat (Swanson et al. 2016). Despite this common effect of increased habitat quality on species interactions, mesocarnivores varied in their specific habitat associations and relative trophic level (Newsome and Ripple 2015). For example, we found no negative interactions between coyotes and bobcats or between gray foxes and red foxes but we found strong negative interactions between bobcats and red fox and red fox occupancy (Fedriani et al. 2000). Based on these results we concluded that larger species were likely impacting smaller species through top down predation pressure (Arim and Marquet 2004) and, consequently, increased urbanization was only likely to reduce the strength of these predator prey interactions (Janssen et al. 2007). Interactions also differed depending upon the reaction of the potential prey to the potential predator (Jones et al. 2016).

Specifically, habitat resulted in more changes to interspecific interactions between red foxes and potential intraguild predators than gray foxes and potential intraguild predators.

Neither habitat nor interspecific interactions alone could explain differences among members of the mesocarnivore community. For example, gray foxes and red foxes differ in their success in this region and in human modified areas generally (Alessi et al. 2012, Willingham 2008, Bateman and Fleming 2012). Gray foxes preferred forested habitats but responded neither positively or negatively to urban cover. Red foxes responded negatively to forest cover and instead selected for areas closer to urban features. Based on habitat alone, given the predominance of forest cover in this region, one may naively expect gray foxes to occupy a greater portion of the eastern U.S.A. Additionally, it is unclear why red foxes would not only tolerate but select for urban areas given the risks posed by urbanization (Snow et al. 2012). Gray foxes and red foxes also differ in terms of interactions with other species. Red fox occupancy was negatively related to the presence of predators including both bobcat and coyote. While coyotes were too widespread to completely avoid, red foxes generally did not occupy areas where coyote were most abundant. Gray foxes also responded negatively to increased coyote abundance but not to coyote or bobcat presence. The explanation for these trends can be reconciled by considering both habitat and interactions simultaneously (Rota et al. 2016). Gray fox selected for the same habitat types as coyote and were likely to occupy sites with coyote present particularly when forest cover was high. However, we did not find gray foxes in landscapes where competition with coyote was intense. Presumably, gray foxes were unable to use alternative habitat to avoid coyote and these results are consistent with this explanation for gray fox declines. In contrast, competition and predation drove red foxes' association with urban areas despite the potential risks presented by urbanization. In urban areas, competition with coyotes and bobcats was reduced, therefore red foxes could use these areas as refuges in a way that gray foxes could not (Ordenna 2011).

Species differed in the habitat types they selected as well as their propensity to use urban habitats. Coyotes and gray foxes selected for the most similar habitat between any species pair we studied. In the eastern U.S.A., coyotes and gray foxes represent the greatest amount of niche overlap among these species. The lack of niche partitioning between these species contributes to the high intensity of competition and intraguild killing of gray foxes by coyotes (Fedriani et al. 2000, Schuette et al. 2013). We did not find evidence of urban avoidance across the eastern U.S.A. At smaller scales, some mesocarnivores are known to respond to urbanization (Ordenna et al.

2010), however at this scale no species avoided urban cover or urban features and only bobcats avoided human modified agricultural landscapes. This trend could be the result of the limited range of urbanization tested in our sample, however within this range we did detect positive responses to urban cover and impacts of urban cover on interactions. The positive association of some mesocarnivores with urban areas may be related to decreased intraguild predation and competition urban areas. Red foxes relied most heavily on these urban refuges, but raccoons also used urban landscapes as well as edge habitat near agricultural cover. Despite potential direct risks (Kamler and Gipson 2004, Snow et al. 2012), these areas may act as refuges for many reasons. Urban and agricultural areas may have food resources that can be consumed by generalist species (Reshamwala et al. 2018), allowing them to avoid competing for other resources. Many species have smaller home ranges in urban areas, resulting in less home range overlap and decreased competition (Mueller et al. 2018). While other species, like gray foxes, did not avoid urban areas explicitly, relative inability to make use of urban habitat may limit their ability to avoid predators.

We did not find differences in the effect of covariates between the sub-regions in our study area. Given the extent of our study area, we considered that there may be variability in our data related to spatial effects not explored in our occupancy analysis (Wagner and Fortin 2005). The species in this study have geographic ranges greater than the extent of the eastern U.S.A. Mesocarnivores may differ between the eastern and western U.S.A. in many ways (Way 2007). While our study area comprised only the eastern U.S.A., habitat potentially may have impacted mesocarnivores and interactions differently depending upon which sub-region within the eastern U.S.A that the site was situated. However, we found that the relationship between habitat covariates and each species occupancy probability did not differ between these sub-regions. Non-stationarity has been shown to impact model performance for other species or in other systems (Gering et al. 2003, Osborne et al. 2007). In contrast to these studies, our results support the idea that, in the eastern U.S.A, and at the scale of our study, mesocarnivores responded to habitat consistently.

Interspecific interactions in our study were consistent with the expectations of mesopredator release. We only found significant negative interactions between potential intraguild predators and their potential prey. Competition likely exists between all species within the mesocarnivore community (Caro and Stoner 2003), however mesocarnivores only responded

with spatial avoidance when there was potential for intraguild predation (Ripple and Beschta 2004). Our results support the idea that coyotes may fill the role of a top predator of smaller mesocarnivores (Gompper 2002) Bobcats were less prevalent and therefore more easily avoided by other mesocarnivores (Clare et al. 2015). Despite evidence in other studies that bobcats may also be killed by coyotes, our results indicate bobcats occupy a similar role as an intraguild predator (Wilson et al. 2010, Witczuk et al. 2015). In the absence of top predators, these species have likely increased in distribution and abundance so that they provide strong top down effects. As a result, gray foxes and red foxes respond to coyotes and bobcats with spatial avoidance or altered habitat selection. Raccoons may avoid competition because of generalist feeding behavior or compensate for predation because of their life history (Prange et al. 2003). Raccoon distributions may be related to high abundance, however raccoons were not present at all sites, and their habitat associations may imply raccoons selected for other factors common among mesocarnivore but not examined in this study.

Ultimately, our results indicate that both increased urbanization and the loss of top predators shape the distributions of extant mesocarnivores across the eastern U.S.A. Contrary to findings at other scales, neither factor alone structured this community more strongly (Gompper et al 2016, Rich et al. 2017). Rather, to understand the structure of the mesocarnivore community we needed to understand how these factors worked in concert. We found evidence that the mesocarnivore guild was structured by top down effects. Mesocarnivores in our study were either potential intraguild predators (coyote, bobcat) or intraguild prey (gray fox, red fox). Other studies have proposed that the loss of top predators in this system has resulted in new top predators and cascading effects across trophic levels (Newsome and Ripple 2014). Top down effects were important both directly in terms of predator avoidance and indirectly through behavioral changes that drive habitat selection. Mesocarnivores have been recognized as the beneficiaries of urbanized landscapes relative to other species, however our findings suggest that in the eastern U.S.A., the impacts of urbanization depend on how urbanization affects the interactions between members of the mesocarnivore community.

2.6 References

2015 TIGER/Line Shapefiles (machine readable data files) / prepared by the U.S. Census Bureau, 2015.

- Alessi, M.G., L.K. Campbell, and C.A. Miller. 2012. 2011-2012 Illinois Hunter Harvest Report. Job Completion Report, Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration W-112-R-21. Human Dimensions Research Program Report HR-12-01/INHS Technical Report (23). Illinois Natural History Survey, Champaign, IL.
- Arim, M. and P.A. Marquet. 2004. Intraguild predation: a widespread interaction related to species biology. Ecology Letters. 7(7):557-564.
- Arnold, T.W. 2010. Uninformative Parameters and Model Selection Using Akaike's Information Criterion. Journal of Wildlife Management. 74(6):1175-1178.
- Atwood, T.C. 2004. The influence of habitat patch attributes on coyote group size and interaction in a fragmented landscape. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 84(1):80-87.
- Bar-Massada, A., V.C. Radeloff, and S.I. Stewart. Biotic and Abiotic Effects of Human Settlement in the Wildland-Urban Interface. Bioscience. 64:429-437.
- Barker, R.J., et al. 2017. On the reliability of N-mixture models for count data. Biometrics. 74:369-377.
- Bateman, P.W. and P.A. Fleming. 2012. Big city life: carnivores in urban environments. Journal of Zoology, 287(1):1-23.
- Beasley, J.C., et al. 2007. Home-range attributes of raccoons in a fragmented agricultural region of northern Indiana. Journal of Wildlife Management. 71(3):844-850.
- Bekoff, M. 1977. Canis latrans. Mammalian Species. 79:1-9.
- Berger, K.M. and E.M. Gese. 2007. Does interference competition with wolves limit the distribution and abundance of coyotes? Journal of Animal Ecology. 76(6):1075-1085.
- Beyer, H.L. 2012. Geospatial Modelling Environment (Version 0.7.3.0). (software). URL: http://www.spatialecology.com/gme
- Brown, D.G., et al. 2005. Rural Land-Use Trends in the Conterminous United States, 1950–2000. Ecological Applications. 15(6):1851–1863.
- Burton A.C., et al. 2015. Wildlife camera trapping: A review and recommendations for linking surveys to ecological processes. Journal of Applied Ecology. 52(3):675–685.
- Caro, T.M. and C. J. Stoner. 2003. The potential for interspecific competition among African carnivores. Biological Conservation. 110(1):67-75.
- Carpenter, B., et al. 2017. Stan: A probabilistic programming language. Journal of Statistical Software 76(1).

- Cooper, S.E., et al. 2012. Landscape factors affecting relative abundance of gray foxes Urocyon cinereoargenteus at large scales in Illinois, USA. Wildlife Biology. 18(4):366-373.
- Chamberlain, M.J. and B.D. Leopold. 2005. Overlap in space use among bobcats (Lynx rufus), coyotes (Canis latrans), and gray foxes (Urocyon cinereoargenteus). American Midland Naturalist. 153(1):171-179.
- Chesson, P. 2000. Mechanisms of maintenance of species diversity. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. 31,373-366.
- Clare, J.D.J., et al. 2015. Predicting Bobcat Abundance at a Landscape Scale and Evaluating Occupancy as a Density Index in Central Wisconsin. Journal of Wildlife Management. 79(3):469-480.
- Cove, M.V. et al. 2012. Use of Camera Traps to Examine the Mesopredator Release Hypothesis in a Fragmented Midwestern Landscape. The American Midland Naturalist. 168(2):456-465.
- Dormann, C.F., et al. 2013. Collinearity: a review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. Ecography. 36(1):27-46.
- Elmhagen, B. and S.P. Rushton. 2007. Trophic control of mesopredators in terrestrial ecosystems: top-down or bottom-up? Ecology Letters. 10(3):197-203.
- ESRI 2011. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute.
- Fedriani, J.M., T.K. Fuller, R.M. Sauvajot, and E.M. York. 2000. Competition and intraguild predation among three sympatric carnivores. Oecologia. 125(2):258-270.
- Fedriani, J.M., T.K. Fuller, and R.M. Sauvajot. 2001. Does availability of anthropogenic food enhance densities of omnivorous mammals? An example with coyotes in southern California. Ecography. 24:325-331.
- Fiske, I. & R. Chandler. 2011. unmarked: An R Package for Fitting Hierarchical Models of Wildlife Occurrence and Abundance. Journal of Statistical Software. 43(10):1-23.
- Fritzell, E. K. & K. J. Haroldson. 1982. Urocyon cinereoargenteus. Mammalian Species. 189:1-8.
- Gehring T. M. and R. K Swihart. 2003. Body size, niche breadth, and ecologically scaled responses to habitat fragmentation: mammalian predators in an agricultural landscape. Biological Conservation. 109(2):283–295.

- Gehrt, S.D. and E.K. Fritzell. 1997. Sexual differences in home ranges of raccoons. Journal of Mammalogy. 78(3):921-931.
- Gering, J.C. et. al. 2003. Additive Partitioning of Species Diversity across Multiple Spatial Scales: Implications for Regional Conservation of Biodiversity. Conservation Biology. 17(2):488-499.
- Gehrt, S.D. and S. Prange. 2007. Interference competition between coyotes and raccoons: a test of the mesopredator release hypothesis. Behavioral Ecology. 18(1):204-214.
- Gompper, M.E. 2002. Top carnivores in the suburbs? Ecological and conservation issues raised by colonization of north-eastern North America by coyotes. Bioscience. 52(2):185-190.
- Gompper, M.E., D.B. Lesmeister, J.C. Ray, J.R. Malcolm, & R. Kays. 2016. Differential Habitat Use or Intraguild Interactions: What Structures a Carnivore Community? PLoS ONE, 11(1):e0146055.
- Goslee, S.C. and D.L. Urban. 2007. The ecodist package for dissimilarity-based analysis of ecological data. Journal of Statistical Software. 22(7):1-19.
- Harrison, R.L. 1997. A Comparison of Gray Fox Ecology between Residential and Undeveloped Rural Landscapes. Journal of Wildlife Management. 61(1):112-122.
- Hines, J. E. 2006. PRESENCE2- Software to estimate patch occupancy and related parameters. United States Geological Survey, Patuxent Wildlife Research Center. http://www.mbr-pwrc.usgs.gov/software/presence.html.
- Jones, B.M., et al. 2016. Do coyotes Canis latrans influence occupancy of prey in suburban forest fragments? Current Zoology. 62(1):1-6.
- Kamler, J.F. and P.S. Gipson. 2004. Survival and cause-specific mortality among furbearers in a protected area. American Midland Naturalist. 151(1):27-34.
- Kays, R.W. M.E. Gompper, and J.C. Ray. 2008. Landscape Ecology of Eastern Coyotes Based on Large-Scale Estimates of Abundance. Ecological Applications. 18(4):1014-1027.
- Kowlaski, B., et al. 2015. Effects of landscape covariates on the distribution and detection probabilities of mammalian carnivores. Journal of Mammalogy. 96(3):511-521.
- Kurki, S., et al. 1998. Abundances of red fox and pine marten in relation to the composition of boreal forest landscapes. Journal of Animal Ecology. 67(6):874-886.
- Kurta, A. 1995. Mammals of the Great Lakes Region. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

- Lesmeister, D.B., et al. 2015. Spatial and Temporal Structure of Mesocarnivore Guild in Midwestern North America. Wildlife Monographs. 191(1):1-61.
- Lindenmayer, D.B. and G.E. Likens. 2010. The science and application of ecological monitoring. Biological Conservation. 143(6):1317–1328.
- Litvaitis, J.A., et al. Bobcat Habitat Use and Home Range Size in Relation to Prey Density. Journal of Wildlife Management. 50(1):110-117.
- Litvaitis, J.A. and D.J. Harrison. 1989. Bobcat-Coyote Niche Relationships During a Period of Coyote Population Increase. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 67(5):1180-1188.
- Litvaitis, J. A. and J. H. Shaw. 1980. Coyote movements, habitat use, and food habits in southwestern Oklahoma. Journal of Wildlife Management. 44:62–68.
- Lombardi, J.V., et al. 2017. Coyote, fox, and bobcat response to anthropogenic and natural landscape features in a small urban area. Urban Ecosystems. 20(6):1239-1248.
- MacKenzie, D. I., et al. Estimating site occupancy rates when detection probabilities are less than one. Ecology. 83(8):2248–2255.
- Mackenzie, D.I., L.L. Bailey, and J.D. Nichols. 2004. Investigating species co-occurrence patterns when species are detected imperfectly. Journal of Animal Ecology. 73:546-555.
- Major J.T. and J.A Sherburne. 1987. Interspecific Relationships of Coyotes, Bobcats, and Red Foxes in Western Maine. Journal of Wildlife Management. 51(3):606-616.
- Mueller, M.A., et al. 2018. Coexistence of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) and red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in an urban landscape. PLOS ONE. 13(1):e0190971.
- Mumma, M.A., et al. 2017. Examining spatial patterns of selection and use for an altered predator guild. Oecologia. 185(4):725-735.
- Newsome T.M. and W.J. Ripple. 2015. A continental scale trophic cascade from wolves through coyotes to foxes. Journal of Animal Ecology. 84(1):49-59.
- O'Connell, A.F., J.D. Nichols, and K.U. Karanth. (2011). Camera Traps in Animal Ecology. Japan: Springer.
- Omernik, J., et al. 2007 How Misapplication of the Hydrologic Unit Framework Diminishes the Meaning of Watersheds. Environmental Management. 60(1):1-11.
- Ordenna, M.A., et al. 2010. Effects of urbanization on carnivore species distribution and richness. Journal of Mammalogy. 91(6):1322-1331.

- Osborne, P.E. et al. 2007. Non-Stationarity and Local Approaches to Modelling the Distributions of Wildlife. Diversity and Distributions. 13(3):313-323.
- Prange, S. et al. 2003. Demographic factors contributing to high raccoon densities in urban landscapes. Journal of Wildlife Management. 67(2),324-333.
- Person, D. K. and D. H. Hirth. 1991. Home range and habitat use of coyotes in a farm region of Vermont. Journal of Wildlife Management. 55(3):433-441.
- R Core Team 2013. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL http://www.R-project.org/.
- Radeloff, V.C., et al. The wildland-urban interface in the United States. Ecological Applications. 15:799-805.
- Radford, J.Q. and A.F. Bennett. 2004. R in landscape parameters: occurrence of the whitebrowed treecreeper *Climacteris affinis* in Victoria, Australia. Biological Conservation. 117(4):375-391.
- Reshamwala, H.S., et al. Anthropogenic food subsidies change the pattern of red fox diet and occurrence across Trans-Himalayas, India. Journal of Arid Environments. 150:15-20.
- Reed, G.C., et al. 2017. Describing habitat suitability of bobcats (Lynx rufus) using several sources of information obtained at multiple spatial scales. Mammalian Biology. 82:17-26.
- Rich, L.N., et al. 2017. Carnivore distributions in Botswana are shaped by resource availability and intraguild species. Journal of Zoology. 303(2):90-98.
- Ripple, W.J., et al. 2014. Status and Ecological Effects of the World's Largest Carnivores. Science. 343(6167):151.
- Ripple, W.J. and R.L. Bescheta. 2004. Wolves and the ecology of fear: Can predation risk structure ecosystems? Bioscience. 54(8):755-766.
- Riley, S.P.D., et al. 2006. FAST-TRACK: A southern California freeway is a physical and social barrier to gene flow in carnivores. Molecular Ecology. 15(7):1733–1741.
- Riley, S.P.D., et al. 2007. Effects of urbanization and habitat fragmentation on bobcats and coyotes in southern California. Conservation Biology. 17(2):566-576.
- Royle, J.A & J.D. Nichols. 2003. Estimating abundance from repeated presence-absence data or point counts. Ecology. 84(3):770-790.

- Salek, M., L. Drahnikova, and E. Tkadlec. 2014. Changes in home range sizes and population densities of carnivore species along the natural to urban habitat gradient. Mammal Review. 45(1):1-14.
- Schuette, P.A., et al. 2014. Carnivore distributions across chaparral habitats exposed to wildfire and rural housing in southern California. International Journal of Wildland Fire. 23(4):591-600.
- Sergio, F., et al. 2008. Top Predators as Conservation Tools: Ecological Rationale, Assumptions, and Efficacy. ANNUAL REVIEW OF ECOLOGY EVOLUTION AND SYSTEMATICS. 39:1-19.
- Silveira, L., A.T.A. Jacomo, and J.A.F. Diniz-Filho. 2003. Camera trap, line transect census and track surveys: a comparative evaluation. Biological Conservation. 114(3):351–355.
- Silvertown, J. 2009. A new dawn for citizen science. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. 24(9):467-471.
- Sivy, K.J., et al. 2017. Fatal Attraction? Intraguild Facilitation and Suppression among Predators. The American Naturalist. 190(5):663-679.
- Slover, C.L. and T. Katzner. 2016. Eastern Whip-Poor-Wills (*Antrostomus vociferus*) are positively associated with low elevation forest in the central Appalachians. Wilson Journal of Ornithology. 128:846 – 856.
- Snow, N.P., et al. 2012. Effects of roads on survival of San Clemente Island foxes. Journal of Wildlife Management. 76(2):243-252.
- Swanson, A., et al. 2016. In the absence of a "landscape of fear": How lions, hyenas, and cheetahs coexist. Ecology and Evolution. 6(23):8534-8545.
- Temple, D. L., M. J. Chamberlain, and L. M. Conner. 2010. Spatial ecology, survival and cause specific mortality of gray foxes (*Urocyon cinereoargenteus*) in a longleaf pine ecosystem. American Midland Naturalist. 163(2):413–422.
- Terraube, J. and V. Bretagnolle. 2018. Top-down limitation of mesopredators by avian top predators: a call for research on cascading effects at the community and ecosystem scale. International Journal of Avian Science.
- Wagner, H.H. and M.J. Fortin. 2008. Spatial analysis of landscapes: Concepts and statistics. Ecology. 86(8):1975-1987.

- Walton, Z., et al. 2017. Variation in home range size of red foxes *Vulpes vulpes* along a gradient of productivity and human landscape alteration. PLoS ONE.
- Way, J.G. 2007. A Comparison of Body Mass of *Canis latrans* (Coyotes) Between Eastern and Western North America. Northeastern Naturalist. 14(1):111-124.
- Way, J.G., P.J. Auger, I.M. Ortega, and E.G. Strauss. 2001. Eastern Coyote denning behavior in an anthropogenic environment. Northeast Wildlife. 56:18–30.
- Willingham, A. 2008. Emerging Factors Associated with the Decline of a Gray Fox Population and Multi-Scale Land Cover Associations of Mesopredators in the Chicago Metropolitan Area. M.S. thesis, Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio.
- Wilson, R.R. et al. 2010. Prey-mediated avoidance of an intraguild predator by its intraguild prey. Oecologia. 164(4):921-929.
- Witczuk, J., S. Pagacz, J.Gliwicz, and L.S. Mills. 2015. Niche overlap between sympatric coyotes and bobcats in highland zones of Olympic Mountains, Washington
- Van Etten, K. W., K. R. Wilson, and R. L. Crabtree. 2007. Habitat use of red foxes in Yellowstone National Park based on snow tracking and telemetry. Journal of Mammalogy 88:1498–1507.
- Xavier, R., et al. 2011. pROC: an open-source package for R and S+ to analyze and compare ROC curves. BMC Bioinformatics. 12:77
- Xian, G., et al. 2011. The change of impervious surface area between 2001 and 2006 in the conterminous United States. Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing. 77(8):758-762.

Species	Model
Coyote	Total Forest Cover; Distance to Water
Bobcat	Agricultural Cover
Gray Fox	Total Forest Cover; Distance to Water
Red Fox	Total Forest Cover; Distance to Urban
Raccoon	Agricultural Edge; Urban Cover; Distance to Road

Table 5 Top performing habitat models for each species from single-species models.

Table 6 Top performing models for each step of analysis. A) Comparison of the top models including habitat covariates for each species. These models tested the relationship between each species occupancy and habitat covariates. The model name indicates the species for which habitat covariates were included. B) Comparison of the top models of species interactions. Interactions were tested by comparing the performance of models including the co-occupancy of each species pair. The model name indicates species for which co-occupancy parameters were included. C) Comparison of the top models of the impact of coyote abundance index on species occupancy. The effect increased coyote abundance was tested by including the coyote abundance index as a covariate on each species occupancy. The model name indicates species for which coyote abundance index was included as a covariate. Comparison of the top presence only interaction models. Models included make up 0.95 model weight.

Model Name	-2 Log Likelihood	ΔΑΙΟ	Weight
A)			
Coyote, Bobcat, Gray Fox, Red Fox, Raccoon	20566.55	0	0.74
Coyote, Bobcat, Red Fox, Raccoon	20584.74	2.33	0.23
B)			
Coyote, Bobcat, Red Fox, Raccoon	20584.14	0	0.95
Coyote, Bobcat, Gray Fox, Red Fox, Raccoon	20566.55	7.33	0.024
C)			
Bobcat, Gray Fox, Red Fox	20560.47	0	0.89
Bobcat, Gray Fox, Red Fox, Raccoon	20552.88	5.66	0.052
Gray Fox	20567.07	7.85	0.018

Table 7 Top performing models comparing the impacts of habitat on species interactions A) Top performing models testing the impacts of urban cover on species interactions. Model names indicate which species co-occupancy included the covariate urban cover. B) Top performing models testing the impacts distance to urban on species interactions. Model names indicate which species co-occupancy included the covariate distance to urban. C) Top performing models testing the impacts of nonurban habitat on species interactions. Model names indicate which species co-occupancy included the impacts of nonurban habitat on species interactions. Model names indicate which species co-occupancy included habitat covariates. Models included make up 0.95 model weight.

A) Bobcat-Gray Fox 20661.38 0 0.87 Coyote-Red Fox 20650.18 4.94 0.073 Red Fox-Raccoon 20647.49 7.91 0.017 B)	Model Name	-2 Log Likelihood	ΔΑΙΟ	Weight
Bobcat-Gray Fox 20661.38 0 0.87 Coyote-Red Fox 20650.18 4.94 0.073 Red Fox-Raccoon 20647.49 7.91 0.017 B)	A)			
Coyote-Red Fox 20650.18 4.94 0.073 Red Fox-Raccoon 20647.49 7.91 0.017 B) Image: Colored state Image: Col	Bobcat-Gray Fox	20661.38	0	0.87
Red Fox-Raccoon 20647.49 7.91 0.017 B) Image: Control of the second sec	Coyote-Red Fox	20650.18	4.94	0.073
B)	Red Fox-Raccoon	20647.49	7.91	0.017
B)				
2)	B)			
Gray Fox-Red Fox 20655.14 0 0.66	Gray Fox-Red Fox	20655.14	0	0.66
Bobcat-Red Fox 20659.22 2.91 0.15	Bobcat-Red Fox	20659.22	2.91	0.15
Bobcat-Raccoon 20658.01 5.17 0.050	Bobcat-Raccoon	20658.01	5.17	0.050
Coyote-Gray Fox 20659.7 5.49 0.042	Coyote-Gray Fox	20659.7	5.49	0.042
Red Fox-Raccoon 20654.79 6.02 0.033	Red Fox-Raccoon	20654.79	6.02	0.033
Coyote-Bobcat 20655.75 7.2 0.018	Coyote-Bobcat	20655.75	7.2	0.018
C)	C)			
Coyote-Raccoon 20632.15 0 0.80	Coyote-Raccoon	20632.15	0	0.80
Red Fox-Raccoon 20625.99 2.83 0.19	Red Fox-Raccoon	20625.99	2.83	0.19

Table 8 Covariates of the occupancy and detection of coyote and gray fox in the Eastern United States. Habitat covariates include measures of the proportion of the landscape surrounding each site belonging to a particular cover type and the distance from each site to the nearest habitat feature. Proportion landscape variables were all assessed at five scales measuring 1km², 2km², 5km², 10km², and 25km², but are reported for the largest range. Distances are in meters

Covariate	Mean	Standard Deviation	Maximum	Minimum	Source
Proportion Total Forest Cover	0.751	0.263	0.996	0.00552	Kays et al. 2008 Temple et al. 2010
Proportion Deciduous Forest Cover	0.657	0.259	0.983	0	Kays et al. 2008 Temple et al. 2010
Proportion Evergreen Forest Cover	0.0467	0.067	0.400	0	Kays et al. 2008 Temple et al. 2010
Proportion Mixed Forest Cover	0.0468	0.0718	0.508	0	Kays et al. 2008 Temple et al. 2010
Proportion Agriculture Cover	0.121	0.171	0.851	0	Gehring and Swihart 2003
Proportion Urban Cover	0.0472	0.0475	0.351	0.000658	Cove et al. 2012, Lesmeister et al. 2016
Distance to nearest water source	1,328	1108	4,628	27	Litvaitis and Shaw 1980, Harrison 1987
Distance to nearest urban boundary	14,037	10,694	46,239	460	Kowalski et al. 2015
Distance to nearest high intensity urban cover	2,447	1,908	11,136	147	Kowalski et al. 2015, Ordenna et al. 2010, Gompper et al. 2016
Distance to nearest of any urban cover	1,176	913	3,994	56	Kowalski et al. 2015, Ordenna et al. 2010, Gompper et al. 2016
Distance to nearest road	3,317	2,483	12,578	56	Riley et al. 2006
Coyote Abundance Index	3.22	2.39	12.80	0.00014	Lesmeister et al. 2016



Figure 7 Beta coefficients for each habitat covariate on occupancy (A), species co-occupancy (B), the effect of urban cover on co-occupancy (C), and the effect of distance to urban on co-occupancy (D). Estimates are model averaged from all models containing that covariate. Bars represent 95% credible intervals around the estimate. Coefficients that are above and do not overlap 0 had a significant positive impact on occupancy. Coefficients that are below and do not overlap 0 had a significant negative impact on occupancy.



Figure 8 Red fox occupancy related to the proportion of urban cover conditional on the presence (right) or absence (left) of coyote (top) and bobcat (bottom). Shaded areas represent the 95% credible interval surrounding occupancy estimates. Avoidance by red foxes in the presence of predators is stronger in areas with low urban cover.



Figure 9 Gray fox occupancy related to forest cover conditional on the presence (right) or absence (left) of coyote. Shaded areas represent the 95% credible interval surrounding occupancy estimates. Gray foxes occupied sites with coyote in more forested areas.



Figure 10 Raccoon occupancy related to agricultural edge conditional on the presence (right) or absence (left) of coyote (top), gray fox (middle), and red fox (bottom). The shaded areas represent the 95% credible interval surrounding occupancy estimates. Raccoons were positively related to agricultural edge habitat and the presence of other mesocarnivores.


Figure 11 Distribution of sites throughout the study area in the eastern U.S.A.



Figure 12 Performance of habitat covariates in across sub-regions (Omernik et al. 2017). The study area was divided into sub-regions and the performance of models was tested on the subset of sites contained within this sub-region. Coefficients are included for the entire study area and for each sub-region. Models and covariates did not perform significantly different in differing sub-regions implying there was not unaccounted for spatial heterogeneity.